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          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good afternoon,

          3  and I want to welcome everyone to the Hearing of the

          4  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services.

          5                 My name is Yvette Clarke, and I am

          6  Chair of the Committee.  Today we will be conducting

          7  a deeper examination of the FDNY diversity efforts

          8  and the three bills that have a bearing on this

          9  issue.

         10                 I would like to express, first of

         11  all, my appreciation to the Mayor and Commissioner

         12  for their recent decision to add almost 1.4 million

         13  dollars to the FDNY baseline budget for diversity

         14  initiative.  As I have repeatedly stressed,

         15  dedicated funding is an essential ingredient for

         16  improving FDNY diversity.

         17                 This recent budget allocation starts

         18  us on a long road to ensuring that Fire Department

         19  better reflects the City it serves.  But, we have

         20  much more work to do and that is the reason for

         21  today's Hearing.

         22                 The first of three bills we will be

         23  discussing Introduction 587, requires the FDNY to

         24  restore its Cadet Program by providing a paid fire

         25  internship to 300 CUNY students each year. There is
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          2  only one reason I am pushing for the restoration of

          3  this program.  I am pushing because it works.  And

          4  there is only one reason the Mayor and Commissioner

          5  are opposing this program.  They are opposing

          6  because it costs money.  And it's not just me who is

          7  saying that the Cadet Program works, even the FDNY

          8  top officials have publicly acknowledged that no

          9  other program, past or present has every had as much

         10  effect on diversity as the Cadet Program.

         11                 I don't subscribe to the view that

         12  diversity is good so long as it doesn't cost any

         13  money.  I subscribe to putting your money where your

         14  mouth is and that is what this legislation will do.

         15                 I would also like to mention that I

         16  am absolutely sick of hearing about Civil Service

         17  titles every time I bring up the Cadet Program.

         18  This issue is nothing more than a red herring.

         19  Commissioner Scoppetta likes to say that one of the

         20  reasons he will not restore the program is that the

         21  FDNY was turned down in its request to make Fire

         22  Cadet a Civil Service title so people could go

         23  directly from Cadet to Firefighter.

         24                 However, the Cadet Program never

         25  worked that way and it still achieved great results.
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          2    The Cadet Program has also worked by first getting

          3  CUNY students into the EMS, which is a Civil Service

          4  title and only then would they take the promotion

          5  exam to Firefighter.  So Deputy Commissioner White,

          6  if your testimony includes any mention of Civil

          7  Service titles, I ask you to skip that portion.

          8                 A second bill that we are hearing

          9  today is Intro. 589, which will require that all

         10  firehouses be equipped with bathrooms and showers

         11  for women Firefighters.  We have a classic chicken

         12  and egg situation here. There are not a lot of

         13  firehouse facilities for women because there are not

         14  a lot of women Firefighters.  But part of the reason

         15  there are not a lot of women Firefighters is that

         16  women don't feel welcome in not having women's

         17  bathrooms and showers certainly lends to that

         18  feeling.

         19                 I was glad that Commissioner

         20  Scoppetta committed at the Committee's Budget

         21  Hearing to rectify this situation.  Today I am

         22  hoping for a clear timeline on this commitment.

         23                 And then finally,  my focus today

         24  will be on the last of three bills, Intro. 588,

         25  which will reform the way that Firefighter
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          2  candidates are ranked and hired.  Right now,

          3  Firefighter candidates must pass two exams.  One is

          4  written and the other is physical.  On the written

          5  exam you must score at least 85 percent and on the

          6  physical exam you must successfully complete six of

          7  eight tasks.  Candidates are assigned a combined

          8  score out of 100 based on their performance on these

          9  two exams.  Next, up to 25 bonus points are added to

         10  the score and then candidates are ranked on the

         11  hiring list and hired in that order.

         12                 There are two major problems with

         13  this system. First, the 25 bonus points can take a

         14  lack- luster candidate and propel him or her from

         15  the bottom to the top of the hiring list. For the

         16  most part, these bonus points, however laudable,

         17  have nothing to do with fire fighting ability.

         18                 For example, you can get five points

         19  for doing nothing but living in New York City.  You

         20  can get five points for being the son or daughter of

         21  a member of the City's uniformed agencies who died

         22  in the line- of- duty and you can get ten points for

         23  being the sibling of a Firefighter or police officer

         24  who died in the line- of- duty during the World

         25  Trade Center attack. Minorities are less likely to
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          2  benefit from bonus points because many bonus points

          3  are related to having a relative in the Department.

          4                 The second major problem is that a

          5  candidate's ranking on the hiring list depends to a

          6  large degree on how he or she performs on the

          7  written exam.  What kind of written exam could test

          8  fire fighting ability?  Could it test for courage?

          9  Could it test for the ability to work well in a

         10  team?  How about assessing willingness to run into a

         11  burning building?  The answer is that no test can do

         12  this.  Yet scores on an S.A.T. Like exam greatly

         13  affect whether or not someone gets hired as

         14  Firefighter.  As a result, as Chief Hayden, the

         15  Chief of the Department acknowledged that the

         16  Committee's March 2nd hearing, relative ranking on

         17  the hiring list does not accurately reflect

         18  differences in firefighting ability. One cannot say

         19  with any degree of confidence that someone with a

         20  total score of 99 and ranked at the top of the

         21  Firefighting hiring list would be a better

         22  Firefighter than someone with a total score of 89,

         23  who may be too low on the list to ever be hired  The

         24  person with the higher score for example, may have

         25  received ten bonus points for being the sibling of a
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          2  police officer who died on September 11.

          3  Alternatively, the differences in the scores could

          4  entirely reflect differences on the written exam.

          5                 Intro. 588 would change how the FDNY

          6  ranked candidates.  Under the bill, candidates would

          7  be placed into one of two groups.  Those with the

          8  top 50 percent of combined scores on the written and

          9  physical exam would be placed into a category called

         10  the high zone.  And the bottom 50 percent would be

         11  placed in the low zone.  The FDNY would then

         12  randomly order candidates within each category and

         13  begin hiring from the high zone.

         14                 The reason this bill would improve

         15  diversity is that many minorities are on the hiring

         16  list and passed the Firefighting exam but they tend

         17  to be lower down on the list.  On the current list,

         18  only the top 2,000 of the 7,000 passing candidates

         19  would probably be hired.  Under the bill, the top

         20  3,500 would have had about a 57 percent chance of

         21  being hired, encompassing more minorities. The

         22  affect on women candidates would have been more or

         23  less neutral

         24                 I'm not suggesting we lower

         25  standards.  I'm suggesting that we reform a system
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          2  that differentiates between candidates, using

          3  factors that do not bear on merit and fitness. The

          4  reason there are passing grades on the FDNY's

          5  written and physical exam is to ensure that any

          6  candidate, placed on the FDNY's hiring list meets

          7  necessary intelligence in strength character.

          8                 Earlier this month, Deputy

          9  Commissioner Doug White, testified that everyone on

         10  the FDNY's hiring list is capable of being an

         11  effective Firefighter.  That is why we didn't have

         12  to worry about fire safety when the FDNY eventually

         13  offered every qualified person on the 1999 hiring

         14  list a position in the Fire Academy.  I recognize

         15  that there may be other solutions than what I

         16  propose in Intro. 588 and I realize that these sorts

         17  of hiring matters are normally left to the

         18  discretion of DCAS and the Fire Department. For

         19  these reasons, I am particularly looking forward to

         20  these agency's thoughts on how we can reform the

         21  Firefighting hiring process.

         22                 Having said that, I'd like to ask

         23  Milton Fischberger, FDNY Deputy Commissioner for

         24  Technology and Support Services and Doug White,

         25  Deputy Commissioner for Administration, as well as,
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          2  Tom Patitucci, Assistant Commissioner of DCAS to

          3  come forward at this time.

          4                 A pleasant good afternoon gentlemen

          5  and when you are prepared you can start your

          6  testimony.

          7                 MR. FISCHBERGER: Good afternoon

          8  Chairperson Clarke and Council Members.  My name is

          9  Milton Fischberger and I am Deputy Commissioner for

         10  Technology and support Services of the New York City

         11  Fire Department.

         12                 I will speak to you today about the

         13  proposed law requiring that all City firehouses be

         14  equipped with both male and female Firefighter

         15  bathrooms and showers.  Deputy Commissioner Doug

         16  White will testify about the proposed law seeking to

         17  reestablish the FDNY Cadet program.  The Department

         18  of Citywide Administrative Services (DCAS) is also

         19  here today to testify about the proposed legislation

         20  affecting the Firefighter open competitive exam.

         21                 Intro. 589.  The proposed bill,

         22  Intro. 589 would require the FDNY to equip all City

         23  firehouses with separate bathroom and shower

         24  facilities for Firefighters of each sex by January

         25  1, 2007.
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          2                 Please note that the "declaration of

          3  legislative findings and intent" accompanying Intro.

          4  589 is inaccurate inasmuch as it states that "the

          5  vast majority of the City firehouses do not have

          6  separate bathroom and shower facilities for women."

          7  This is not true.  Fifty- one percent of our 219

          8  firehouses have bathroom and shower facilities for

          9  female Firefighters.  That is 115, as the actual

         10  number.

         11                 In addition, ten firehouses are

         12  currently undergoing renovations that will include

         13  the addition of facilities for women. This brings

         14  the number to 125 firehouses or 56 percent of our

         15  219 firehouses.

         16                 Funding for Capital projects is a

         17  significant, ongoing concern for the Fire

         18  Department.  Our firehouses are old; 67 percent of

         19  our firehouses were built between 1890s and 1930.

         20  The vast majority of our Capital funding is

         21  ordinarily used to address problems threatening the

         22  integrity of an entire facility such as

         23  waterproofing and roof replacement.  However, I have

         24  been discussing this issue with the Office of

         25  Management and Budget (OMB) the issue of women's
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          2  bathroom facilities to see whether we could try to

          3  accommodate what we hope and expect will be an

          4  increasing number of female Firefighters in the FDNY

          5  uniformed ranks.  Going forward, over the next five

          6  fiscal years, the FDNY's Capital Budget provides

          7  close to $5 million for the renovation of bathroom

          8  facilities.

          9                 We believe we have a reasonable

         10  schedule for outfitting FDNY firehouses to

         11  accommodate our female Firefighters based on our

         12  existing budget.  And, by working with the

         13  Department of Design and Construction we hope we

         14  can, within the five years, equip approximately 87

         15  percent of our firehouses with female bathroom

         16  facilities.  We are also discussing with OMB the

         17  possibility of redoing all of the bathrooms in a

         18  firehouse, which would naturally affect this

         19  timetable.

         20                 Generally speaking though, the FDNY

         21  is looking to survey of all of our facilities to

         22  help us determine the physical condition of all of

         23  our firehouses and will help us prioritize necessary

         24  work to ensure the integrity of a firehouse and its

         25  components, including bathrooms.
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          2                 We do not believe that legislating

          3  these types of projects is realistic.  We would like

          4  to retain our ability to work with OMB to set our

          5  Capital Budget priorities in this way. Requiring

          6  that the Fire Department equip all firehouses on

          7  your timetable with facilities for female

          8  Firefighters denies the Fire Commissioner and the

          9  Mayor the authority to set the Capital Budget

         10  priorities for the agency.  The flexibility to set

         11  and reset our Capital Budget priorities is an

         12  absolute necessity if you consider the aging

         13  facilities out of which our fire and EMS crews

         14  operate everyday.  We are continually reassessing

         15  our needs and as needed, reordering our priorities

         16  to address the most urgent Capital needs.

         17                      Thank you for the opportunity to

         18  speak to you today.  I would be happy to answer your

         19  questions once Deputy Commissioner White has

         20  completed his remarks.

         21                 MR. WHITE:  Good afternoon to the

         22  Chair and to the Committee.  As Commissioner

         23  Scoppetta testified less than three weeks ago at the

         24  Preliminary Budget Hearing before your Committee,

         25  the Mayor has approved an additional $1.376 million
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          2  to strengthen the FDNY's recruitment efforts.  This

          3  incudes funding for seven new permanent positions

          4  for the Recruitment Unit, more than a half a million

          5  dollars for recruitment centers and more than $190

          6  thousand for the FDNY Explorer Programs and

          7  Informational Outreach Program.

          8                 We believe the enhanced level of

          9  funding for recruitment will allow us to further

         10  accelerate and intensify our efforts to make the

         11  FDNY more representative of those we serve.  As you

         12  know, during the last three years, 14.7 percent of

         13  the Firefighters we hired were minorities, as

         14  compared to only 6.6 percent minority hiring during

         15  the previous decade.  Clearly, we are making solid

         16  progress, but I believe that we can certainly

         17  improve that performance.

         18                 Intro. 587 would require the FDNY to

         19  establish an annual program with 300 University of

         20  New York, its CUNY students. The bill provides that

         21  these students would participate in a six month paid

         22  work- study program, after which they would receive

         23  three months training to become Emergency Medical

         24  Technicians (EMTs).

         25                 While we have responded many times
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          2  over the past few months to your questions about the

          3  Cadet Program in writing and at several City Council

          4  hearings, and stated our myriad reasons for not

          5  reestablishing the program.  This legislation seeks

          6  to do just that.  It is a little disheartening that

          7  our message is apparently not getting through.

          8                 If I may, I would like to try and

          9  drive home one very important fact.  No individual

         10  has ever participated in the FDNY Cadet Program was

         11  ever able to promote directly from Cadet to the

         12  position of Firefighter.  We were never authorized

         13  under State law to do that.

         14                 The New York State Civil Service

         15  Commission did not approve the City's application to

         16  formally create the title of Fire Cadet, the

         17  creation of which would have enabled such a Cadet to

         18  promote directly to Firefighter.  The Decision of

         19  the State Civil Service Commission, along with

         20  fiscal constraints (the program cost upwards of $900

         21  thousand a year), caused the FDNY to decide in the

         22  Spring 2002 that it could no longer provide the

         23  necessary financial and administrative support to

         24  continue the Cadet Program.  Lacking the legal

         25  authority to promote a Cadet to Firefighter, the
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          2  fundamental goal for the Cadet Program could not be

          3  realized.

          4                 We have discussed many time with you

          5  since 2003, the FDNY has utilized promotional exams

          6  from EMT to Firefighter to accomplish the same goals

          7  as prior to the Cadet Program.  With DCAS now

          8  offering such exams every 18 months, these exams are

          9  proving to be a very valuable tool to increase

         10  diversity in the fire service. Our current EMTs are

         11  a very diverse group.  FDNY EMTs are approximately

         12  55 percent minority and 25 percent women.  So the

         13  Department is creating a diverse pool of potential

         14  Firefighter candidates who already have their EMT

         15  certificates and can be promoted to Firefighter off

         16  of a promotional list before candidates who take the

         17  open competitive exam.

         18                 Let me point out some very

         19  significant statistics that show that the

         20  promotional exam from EMT to Firefighter is more

         21  effective than the Cadet program.

         22                 Only 73 of the more than 500 total

         23  individuals who participated in the Cadet Program

         24  went on to become FDNY Firefighters.  Only 43

         25  minority Cadets went on to become FDNY Firefighters.
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          2    The September 2003 EMT promotional exam produced

          3  143 eligible candidates of which 68, or 48 percent,

          4  were minorities and of the almost 200 EMTs who took

          5  just recently the March 5, 2005, written promotional

          6  exam, 85 or 42.5 percent were minorities.

          7                 Therefore, in the last 18 months,

          8  more than 150 minority EMTs took the promotional

          9  exam to become Firefighters, whereas over the course

         10  of the five years of the Cadet Program only 43

         11  minority Cadets went on to become Firefighters with

         12  the FDNY.

         13                 The Recruitment Unit is actively and

         14  continuously recruiting and encouraging interested

         15  EMTs to take the promotional exam and is developing

         16  a training program to assist EMTs in preparing for

         17  the exam.  The goal is to train these candidates to

         18  increase their chances of passing and earning a

         19  competitive score on the promotional exams.

         20                 As you are aware, we have replicated

         21  and incorporated the successful parts of the Cadet

         22  Program, its outreach and mentoring into the FDNY

         23  Exploring Program.  The new  infusion of new funding

         24  means that the Exploring Programs can expand to

         25  reach many more minority youth in the five boroughs.
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          2                 The FDNY High School for Fire and

          3  Life Safety provides another avenue for recruiting

          4  young people before they leave high school.  While

          5  it is really still in its infancy, the school has

          6  received a good deal of positive press coverage

          7  since it opened in September 2004 and has had a very

          8  positive response from current 8th graders looking

          9  for high schools to attend starting next September.

         10  This will afford the Department another opportunity

         11  to introduce students from diverse backgrounds to a

         12  career in emergency services, Civil preparedness as

         13  EMTs, Firefighters or Paramedics.  Within a few

         14  years we expect that the high school will graduate a

         15  large pool of minority candidates who will seek

         16  careers with the FDNY.

         17                 As I mentioned earlier, the Mayor has

         18  approved an additional $1.376 million to strengthen

         19  the FDNY's recruitment efforts.  The Recruitment

         20  Unit, now fortified with additional permanent staff

         21  in addition to the 8- 12 part- time and light- duty

         22  staff, will continue to work with non- profit and

         23  religious organizations to help build awareness of

         24  potential career opportunities within the FDNY.

         25  This effort includes educating, recruiting and
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          2  training interested candidates; providing outreach

          3  efforts at junior high and high schools, colleges

          4  and job fairs; and collaborating with other FDNY

          5  units that provide outreach to diverse communities

          6  on various public safety issues.

          7                 Please note that the Recruitment Unit

          8  is commencing its recruitment campaign for the next

          9  exam to be given in 2007. Filing for that exam

         10  commences in 2006.  We think this early recruitment

         11  effort in high schools, community colleges and in

         12  communities throughout the City will improve the

         13  number of minority and female applicants and

         14  eventual candidates.

         15                 As we ramp up for the next open,

         16  competitive Firefighter exam, filing for that exam

         17  will start next year.  The FDNY asks you and all

         18  Members of this Committee and other interested

         19  Members of the City Council to join us in reaching

         20  African- American, Hispanic, Asian and female young

         21  people so that we can tell them about the great

         22  opportunities available in the FDNY.

         23                 Specifically, we request that Members

         24  of this Committee and other interested Council

         25  Members invite our recruitment staff to community
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          2  events where you speak and give recruiters an

          3  opportunity to say a few words about becoming a

          4  Firefighter or EMT.

          5                 We would also encourage you to

          6  provide information about how to become a New York

          7  City Firefighter or EMT in your press releases,

          8  especially those press releases that address the

          9  issue of FDNY diversity.

         10                 It would be especially helpful if you

         11  would publicize our recruitment hotline number 718-

         12  999- FDNY and the "URL" for our recruitment web page

         13  www.nyc.gov/fdny.  Click on the "jobs employment"

         14  link.  In this way we can work together to provide

         15  young people from underrepresented groups with more

         16  information about the many benefits of joining the

         17  Department. In the next few weeks we intend to reach

         18  out to Council Members in writing on this issue.

         19                 As proposed, Intro. 587 is rather

         20  untenable for a number of reasons.  First, a

         21  conservative estimate of the cost of accommodating

         22  300 CUNY Cadets for a six- month program is almost

         23  $5 million per year.  This is an enormous cost for a

         24  program aimed to do what the current EMT Promotional

         25  Exam is already doing.
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          2                 Secondly, we think that a class of

          3  300 is unmanageable and wouldn't provide the

          4  benefits that a smaller program would, e.g.

          5  Mentoring.

          6                 Third, the bill proposes that the

          7  Department hire 300 Cadets each year.  The FDNY

          8  hires 300 new EMTs on average every fiscal year.

          9  Given the size of the proposed Cadet hires, the

         10  Department would not be able to appoint Cadets to

         11  provisional EMS positions if a Civil Service list is

         12  in effect.  All 300 Cadets would have to take a back

         13  seat to any EMT candidates on the Civil Service list

         14  who would have to be hired first.  Therefore, it is

         15  extremely unlikely that the Department could absorb

         16  300 Cadets into EMS each year.  This would increase

         17  the cost to operate the Cadet Program.

         18                 Last, by legislating, among other

         19  things the size of the Cadet class and the college

         20  from which the FDNY could draw Cadets, the City

         21  Council is infringing upon the Fire Commissioner's

         22  Charter- mandated decision- making authority.  As

         23  the agency head, the Commissioner should be left to

         24  select how many Cadets should be chosen for the

         25  program, how many college credits they should have,
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          2  what colleges they could come from, what the

          3  required GPA would be and other requirements.

          4                 One important lesson we learned from

          5  the Cadet Program is the need for flexibility, the

          6  ability to change the program in response to

          7  changing needs and due to improved understanding of

          8  what makes an effective program.  The Cadet Program

          9  was not static.  It was tweaked each year of its

         10  existence in acknowledgment of the need to adapt.

         11                 We are committed to presenting as

         12  much information to as many people as we possibly

         13  can in order to expand the pool of minorities and

         14  women who file for the next Firefighter exam.  I am

         15  firmly convinced that our outreach, along with more

         16  frequent EMT promotional exams and the other efforts

         17  I have outlined, is the most effective way to

         18  diversify the fire service in a manner that is both

         19  conducive to maintaining the high standards of the

         20  FDNY and consistent with State Civil Service law.

         21                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         22  speak with you today.  I would be happy to answer

         23  your questions.

         24                 MR. PATITUCCI: Good afternoon

         25  Chairperson Clarke and Members of the Committee on
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          2  Fire and Criminal Justice Services.  My name is Tom

          3  Patitucci and I am the Assistant Commissioner for

          4  Examinations in the Division of Citywide Personnel

          5  Services at the New York City Department of Citywide

          6  Administrative Services (DCAS).

          7                 I am joined by my colleague behind me

          8  Mr. Paluszek, Deputy General Counsel for Personnel

          9  Legal Matters. Thank you for this opportunity to

         10  testify today about the now Intro. 587 and a little

         11  later on I have some additional testimony for Intro.

         12  588.

         13                 I would like to add to Deputy

         14  Commissioner White's testimony regarding Intro. 587

         15  and the Cadet Program.  It appears from the

         16  Declaration of Legislative Findings and Intent for

         17  Intro. 587 that the Council is under the impression

         18  that the initiative undertaken in the 1990s and

         19  referred to as the Fire Cadet Program, was a fully

         20  functioning program, which for some unknown reason

         21  was abandon.  That impression is incorrect.

         22                 What has been referred to as the Fire

         23  Cadet Program was at best a pilot program.  The

         24  continued success of which hinged entirely upon

         25  approval by the State Civil Service Commission of
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          2  DCAS's request to create a Fire Cadet title.

          3                 As I have already mentioned the New

          4  York State Constitution and Civil Service law

          5  overwhelmingly favor competitive testing to evaluate

          6  the merit and fitness for position.  Any attempts

          7  upon the part of DCAS as a municipal commission to

          8  evaluate merit and fitness in a manner other than

          9  competitive testing must receive the express

         10  permission of the New York State Civil Service

         11  Commission.  In Civil Service jargon where the merit

         12  and fitness for position is evaluated without a

         13  competitive examination, the position is referred to

         14  as a non- competitive position or title.

         15                 This was exactly the permission DCAS

         16  was seeking from the State.  Permission to classify

         17  the position of Fire Cadet as a non- competitive

         18  title.  Although DCAS would still have determined

         19  the minimum qualifications for appointments of Fire

         20  Cadet, approval by the State to place Fire Cadet in

         21  a non competitive class would have allowed two key

         22  things to happen, which were considered fundamental

         23  for a successful Fire Cadet Program.

         24                 First, non- competitive status would

         25  have allowed the title to be eligible for promotion
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          2  to Fire Fighter.  Second, non competitive status

          3  would have allowed the Fire Department to consider

          4  factors other than one's rank on a competitive

          5  examination when considering Cadets for Fire Cadet.

          6                 But again, this entire program hinged

          7  on permission from the State to create Fire Cadet as

          8  a non- competitive title. Unfortunately, the State

          9  did not approve our request, thereby effectively

         10  aborting the program.  Intro. 587 does not remedy

         11  any of the problems encountered with the Fire Cadet

         12  initiative.

         13                 I would now be happy to answer any

         14  questions you may have.

         15                 If you don't mind I would like to

         16  give my testimony on Intro. 588 also.  Is that okay?

         17    Okay fine.  Sorry if I confused you.

         18                 First of all I would like to say that

         19  DCAS shares with the Mayor, the Fire Commissioner

         20  and the City Council a desire to see a Fire

         21  Department that more accurately reflects the

         22  diversity of the City.

         23                 DCAS is proud, for example, to have

         24  worked with the Fire Department in developing a

         25  promotional line for EMTs and Paramedics to the
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          2  position of Firefighter.  As you may be aware, DCAS

          3  was challenged in court for having extended this

          4  opportunity. We prevailed in the appellate courts,

          5  thereby allowing this important promotional

          6  opportunity to continue.  As was already noted

          7  today, this avenue for promotion has allowed the

          8  Fire Department to appoint the most racially diverse

          9  Academy classes in the history of the Department.

         10                 DCAS concurs with the Mayor's and

         11  Fire Department's recent decision to expand the

         12  Firefighter recruitment program and we will support

         13  our colleagues in their efforts.  We all believe

         14  that the best way to diversify the Fire Department

         15  is through enhanced recruitment.

         16                 Before addressing directly the two

         17  Intros before you today, I would like to provide you

         18  with some background regarding DCAS's role in the

         19  examination process.  As you may know, the New York

         20  City Charter provides that the Commissioner of DCAS

         21  shall have "all the powers and duties of a municipal

         22  Civil Service Commission provided in the Civil

         23  Service law."

         24                 Municipal Civil Service Commissions

         25  in turn, are the entities responsible for
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          2  administering the New York State Civil Service laws

          3  within their respective jurisdictions, as well as

          4  ensuring that jurisdictions comply with the mandate

          5  found in Article Five, Section Six, of the

          6  Constitution of the State of New York.  That section

          7  provides that "all appointments and promotions in

          8  the Civil Service shall be made according to merit

          9  and fitness to be ascertained, as far as

         10  practicable, by examination, which as far as

         11  practicable, shall be competitive."

         12                 DCAS takes this responsibility very

         13  seriously.  It is the specific responsibility of my

         14  Bureau, the Bureau of Examinations, to work with

         15  City agencies to identify functions that the City

         16  needs to perform and then to determine how to group

         17  these functions in a rational way in order to create

         18   "Civil Service titles."

         19                 Additionally, it is our

         20  responsibility to determine how to set promotional

         21  lines for titles and to determine whether, on

         22  occasion, it is appropriate to extend promotional

         23  opportunities to titles beyond those set promotional

         24  lines.  It is the responsibility of my Bureau to

         25  then determine the best way to evaluate "merit and
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          2  fitness" for positions, understanding that both the

          3  State Constitution and the Civil Service law are

          4  extraordinarily clear about their overwhelming

          5  preference for competitive testing; that is, testing

          6  which results in rank- ordered eligible lists.

          7                 And, of course, my Bureau develops

          8  and administers Civil Service examinations, rates

          9  the tests and assists in the promulgation of

         10  eligible lists.  In order to carry out all these

         11  responsibilities, the Bureau of Examinations is

         12  staffed with experienced examiners, most of whom

         13  possess graduate degrees in

         14  industrial/organizational psychology or other exam-

         15  related fields.

         16                 Intro. 588 was reviewed extensively

         17  by my DCAS colleagues and me, and my comments also

         18  reflect the views of Counsel.  On behalf of DCAS

         19  Commissioner Martha K. Hirst, I must, with the

         20  greatest respect, advise the Council that this

         21  proposed amendment to the Administrative Code runs

         22  afoul of the mandates of the New York State

         23  Constitution and the Civil Service law, as well as

         24  ignores certain well- established testing

         25  principles.
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          2                 As mentioned above, a cornerstone of

          3  Civil Service is the principal that appointments and

          4  promotions shall be based upon merit and fitness, to

          5  be determined most often by competitive testing.

          6  The Civil Service law also requires that those

          7  candidates who have been found to be more qualified

          8  after competitive testing be considered before those

          9  who scored less well.

         10                 For reasons to be explained more in-

         11  depth in a moment, the Council's proposal to

         12  superimpose two exactly equal zones onto an eligible

         13  list of candidates would violate that entrenched

         14  principle of merit and fitness.  DCAS would be

         15  forced first to group candidates with objectively

         16  different levels of qualifications into one of two

         17  legislatively- imposed zones and then to randomly

         18  order the names of those candidates within those

         19  zones.              This legislation seeks to have

         20  DCAS establish lists with arbitrary zones and random

         21  ordering and thus ignore our duty under the State

         22  Constitution and Civil Service law to utilize a

         23  rational approach in providing competitive, rank-

         24  ordered lists.

         25                 This legislative proposal strikes at
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          2  the very heart of the New York State Constitution's

          3  mandate with respect to merit and fitness and

          4  ignores DCAS's fundamental role of providing

          5  agencies with rank- ordered eligible lists upon

          6  which agencies can rely with confidence when

          7  considering candidates for appointments and

          8  promotions.

          9                 However well- intentioned this

         10  proposal may appear, the Council cannot legislate

         11  that all candidates on all exams for Firefighter in

         12  the top 50 percent zone be deemed equally qualified.

         13  In addition, since those candidates in the top 50

         14  percent zone represent varying levels of

         15  qualifications, it would violate the

         16  constitutionally- mandated principle of merit and

         17  fitness because DCAS would be barred from providing

         18  a true rank- ordered eligible list.  Candidates who

         19  are more fit would not necessarily be considered

         20  before those who are less fit.

         21                 It would appear that the Council has

         22  reached its conclusion that this legislation is

         23  needed based upon findings with which DCAS

         24  respectfully disagrees.  First, I disagree with the

         25  Council's premise that the examination for
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          2  Firefighter does a poor job of distinguishing among

          3  those candidates who pass both components of the

          4  exam.

          5                 All of the behavioral dimensions that

          6  are assessed on the Firefighter examination are

          7  identified and rated in terms of their importance to

          8  a Firefighter's job through a thorough job analysis

          9  conducted by DCAS examiners.  We use incumbent

         10  Firefighters and their supervisors as subject matter

         11  experts to obtain all the information that serves as

         12  the basis for the exam.

         13                 For the most recent exam, DCAS

         14  examiners conducted a job analysis survey among

         15  nearly 200 incumbent Firefighters and used this

         16  instrument to identify the critical and important

         17  aspects of the job.  Approximately 94 percent of the

         18  subject matter experts who completed the survey

         19  indicated that the contents of the survey

         20  represented 80 percent of a Firefighter's job.  In

         21  other words, by any standard within the psychometric

         22  community, the job analysis results represent an

         23  overwhelming majority of the duties and

         24  responsibilities of a Firefighter.  This is the

         25  basis for our position that the exam thoroughly
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          2  assessed the underlying abilities necessary to

          3  perform the job of Firefighter.

          4                 I must also respectfully disagree

          5  with the finding of the Council that our examination

          6  does not test for such qualities as common sense,

          7  following orders and quick thinking. Although these

          8  terms cannot expressly be found in the Notice of

          9  Examination for Firefighter, we do test for these

         10  qualities.  The exam assesses inductive reasoning,

         11  which is the ability to take several facts and draw

         12  a conclusion, and deductive reasoning, which is the

         13  ability to take a general principle and apply it to

         14  a specific situation.  These behavioral dimensions

         15  are the essence of what is popularly known as common

         16  sense.

         17                 The exam also assesses information-

         18  ordering, which presents a candidate with a series

         19  of instructions or orders and then places the

         20  candidate in a context in which he or she must carry

         21  out these orders in a specified sequence.  In other

         22  words, candidates are also assessed on their ability

         23  to follow orders.

         24                 With respect to quick- thinking, it

         25  should be noted that a typical Firefighter exam
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          2  consists of 85 test questions and that candidates

          3  have approximately two minutes to answer each

          4  question.  If a candidate uses more time to answer

          5  one question, that will reduce the amount of time

          6  available to answer the remaining questions.  As a

          7  result, quick- thinking is assessed in this fashion.

          8                 I would also like to address the

          9  issue of assessing bravery.  Personality inventories

         10  and profilers that claim to assess bravery are

         11  actually assessing self- image, or what most of us

         12  would like to believe we would do when placed in

         13  harm's way.  In reality, a person never really knows

         14  for sure what he or she will do until actually

         15  confronted with a life- threatening situation.

         16                 For this reason, and because it would

         17  be unethical to expose exam candidates to dangerous

         18  situations, bravery is most appropriately assessed

         19  during the probationary period.  I would also like

         20  to point out that testing for the ability to perform

         21  the job of Firefighter does not end with the Civil

         22  Service exam, but rather continues through training

         23  at the Fire Academy and on- the job during the

         24  probationary period.  It is during the probationary

         25  period that final assessments are made of those
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          2  behavioral dimensions that cannot be assessed by the

          3  exam or at the Fire Academy.

          4                 Before I testify about the technical

          5  concept of band- scoring, I would like to define a

          6  term that you have already heard and will hear again

          7  in my testimony; specifically, "psychometrics."  The

          8  term "psychometrics" refers to the science of test

          9  development for the purpose of behavioral

         10  assessment, and includes both psychological and

         11  vocational assessment.

         12                 The Council is clearly aware of the

         13  psychometrically valid concept of "zone- scoring" or

         14   "band- scoring",  However, Intro. 588 simplifies

         15  the concept to such a degree as to render it illegal

         16  and practically speaking, useless.  The Council has

         17  proposed to divide Firefighter eligible lists into

         18  two zones and randomly assign ranks to candidates

         19  within each zone.

         20                 The basis for band scoring is the

         21  concept that every exam score is the midpoint of a

         22  range of scores.  For example, if a person achieves

         23  a score of 85 on an exam, that person's true score

         24  is 85, plus or minus some factor.  This factor can

         25  be measured and serves as the basis for the creation
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          2  of the bands. Candidates who appear in different

          3  bands on an eligible list are said to have

          4  significantly different abilities because their

          5  scores vary from the scores of those in other bands

          6  by more than this factor.

          7                 Band scoring is a psychometrically

          8  appropriate procedure.  It is however, most

          9  appropriately implemented by using specific formulas

         10  and exam statistics that dictate the size of each

         11  band, the number of bands and the scores that

         12  determine the upper and lower limits of each band.

         13  In addition, these exam statistics are peculiar to

         14  each exam and as a result, will vary from exam to

         15  exam.  They must be calculated separately for each

         16  exam and as a result, cannot be determined in

         17  advance.

         18                 Band scoring is typically performed

         19  with single- part exams, and it should be emphasized

         20  that DCAS has never implemented band scoring for the

         21  Firefighter exam.  In fact, it may not be possible

         22  to implement band scoring for a multi- part exam

         23  such as Firefighter where both parts are

         24  competitive.

         25                 It is very clear, however, that the
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          2  methodology proposed by the Council is arbitrary and

          3  is not in accordance with psychometrically

          4  acceptable procedures for establishing bands. Also,

          5  if a method could be found for band scoring a multi-

          6  part exam, it would most certainly create several

          7  bands rather than two.

          8                 If band scoring is properly

          9  implemented, an agency would be statistically

         10  assured that all candidates within a band are

         11  equally qualified when considering a candidate for

         12  appointment or promotion.  What the Council would

         13  have us do with this proposed legislation, however,

         14  is to superimpose onto a list of test- passers two

         15  bands with the top- scoring 50 percent of passers in

         16  one band and the bottom- scoring 50 percent of

         17  passers in the second band.

         18                 This may seem attractive in its

         19  simplicity, but it violates the principles of

         20  psychometrics because it is a purely arbitrary

         21  dividing line.  A statutorily- imposed dividing line

         22  could, in fact, split a more psychometrically

         23  appropriate band, thereby significantly harming a

         24  group of candidates by relegating them to the lower

         25  band.  The proposed legislation provides absolutely
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          2  no assurance whatsoever to the Fire Department when

          3  making appointment or promotion decisions that

          4  candidates in the "high band", for example, are

          5  equally qualified.  Any legislation which would

          6  deprive an appointment authority, such as the Fire

          7  Department, of that assurance would be violating

          8  both the spirit and the letter of the Constitutional

          9  mandate that appointments and promotions be based

         10  upon merit and fitness to be determined, where

         11  practicable, by competitive examination.

         12                 I would also like to note the effect

         13  that the Council's proposal would have on the

         14  credits which are provided to many veterans pursuant

         15  to the State Constitution and the Civil Service law.

         16    The very title of the provision of the state

         17  Constitution which addresses these credits, the

         18  Veteran's Preference, expresses clearly the policy

         19  of the State; that is, where two candidates have

         20  been found to be equally qualified after

         21  examination, it is the public policy of this State

         22  to prefer the veteran.  This is accomplished by

         23  adding points to the final score of a candidate who

         24  is a veteran of a time of war.  As proposed, this

         25  legislation would, in effect, negate any veteran's
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          2  preference. Therefore, it violates the New York

          3  State Constitution and the Civil Service law for

          4  this reason as well.

          5                 I would like to return for a moment

          6  to DCAS's role as the Municipal Commission for the

          7  City of New York.  The powers and responsibilities

          8  of a Municipal Commission derive entirely from State

          9  law, and, with respect to the City of New York have

         10  been entrusted by the New York City Charter to the

         11  Commissioner of DCAS, an appointee of the Mayor.

         12                 Therefore, in addition to all the

         13  issues raised above with respect to this

         14  legislation, it is also our position that Intro. 588

         15  would directly curtail DCAS's statutory

         16  responsibilities as Municipal Commission, as the

         17  legislation would infringe on the powers and

         18  responsibilities of an entity created by State law

         19  and, further, on an appointee of the Mayor.

         20                 DCAS will continue to work closely

         21  with the Fire Department and the Office of the Mayor

         22  on Civil Service issues.  We all share the same goal

         23  of diversifying the Department.  It will be our

         24  pleasure to administer future Firefighter

         25  examinations to larger, more diverse groups of test
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          2  takers.  I would now be happy to answer any

          3  questions you may have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank

          5  you gentlemen for your testimony and response to the

          6  legislation that has been introduced.  It has been

          7  quite informative and has really, quite frankly,

          8  opened the door for further and deeper examination

          9  of how we are going to go about diversifying the

         10  Department.

         11                 Let me start by asking some questions

         12  about the Cadet Program and I think we've sort of

         13  beaten this Civil Service drum to death.  I think

         14  everyone clearly understands that.  What has been

         15  described to me, in terms of the Cadet Program, has

         16  to do more or less with its ability to identify

         17  individuals in a way that more than ceremoniously

         18  creates an avenue of exposure, entree and emergent

         19  into understanding what the fire service is all

         20  about.

         21                 So can you point to any of the

         22  programs, past or present, which has had as much

         23  effect on diversity in the FDNY as the Cadet

         24  Program?  Anyone?  Commissioner White, I'm sure this

         25  falls under your purview.
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          2                 MR. WHITE: I think that the exam that

          3  we're now giving, the promotional exam --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm speaking in

          5  reference to the Cadet Program.

          6                 MR. WHITE: I thought you said is

          7  there any program that impacts diversity past,

          8  present or the future, I thought you said --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right, that's

         10  correct.

         11                 MR. WHITE: In the past, before we've

         12  had these initiatives, I can't think of one, but in

         13  terms of what we have now, I can think of one,

         14  several.  You know exams or programs?  Are you

         15  distinguishing between those?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I'm

         17  speaking about programs that specifically create

         18  entree and give exposure to an understanding of what

         19  it takes to become a Firefighter.

         20                 MR. WHITE:  You know, you're asking

         21  me about -- This Administration has been in office I

         22  guess three and one- half years, or something like

         23  that --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         25                 MR. WHITE: -- And you know from the
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          2  point that we came in, I think it was six months

          3  before we sort of put in place filing for the new

          4  open competitiveness and started doing what we were

          5  going to do.  So I can't -- The Cadet Program was

          6  effective in certain ways, I mean it usually had

          7  classes of 60 or 75, the numbers speak for

          8  themselves that the promotional exam is more

          9  effective than that program was.  The only thing

         10  that we are doing now, is we are doing an Exploring

         11  Program, the FDNY High School, that kind of thing.

         12  Those are the initiative that we have put in place

         13  to improve diversity.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. I

         15  understand that. Here's what my question is and I

         16  guess --

         17                 MR. WHITE: I'm not trying to avoid --

         18  I just don't understand -- Maybe I'm missing --

         19  Apparently I am.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.  I'm

         21  trying to bring some clarity.

         22                 MR. WHITE: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: The question is

         24  is that when we look at the methods that have been

         25  utilized in over the time the Department has been
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          2  grappling with this issue of diversity.  There was

          3  one particular program that was developed that

          4  appeared to work.  And for whatever reason, be they

          5  fiscal, Civil Services has always pouted, there was

          6  a success factor with that that has not been

          7  experienced by the Department before or since this

          8  particular program went into effect.  You are

          9  talking about EMS promotional example, when you talk

         10  about exposure to the wider community of residents

         11  of the City, there is only one program that we're

         12  aware of that met that goal.  And that was the Cadet

         13  Program.

         14                 I understand full well what we are

         15  talking about in terms of a High School Program and

         16  an Explorer Program.  But, what we are trying to do

         17  is create a climate that creates various avenues of

         18  entree into exposure and hopefully true recruitment

         19  and filling of rank of diversity.

         20                 The Explorer Program, you are working

         21  with young people who are not prepared as of yet,

         22  just based on age, to ever be able to get into the

         23  Department in any significant time. Likewise with

         24  the High School.  There has to be a bridge program

         25  of some sort in my estimation, if you have high
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          2  school students that graduated at the age of 17, to

          3  be able to make sure that they are able to keep up

          4  with the skills or the information that they

          5  received during their high school years. Likewise

          6  with the Explorer Program.  What fills that gap?

          7                 MR. WHITE: Well, first of all --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What is it that

          9  the Department is prepared to do that would really

         10  create that bridge to EMS and then further to the

         11  Fire Service?

         12                 MR. WHITE: Well, first the Explorer

         13  Program does go up to 20.  I don't know what the

         14  breakdown is or how many 20- year olds or 19- year-

         15  olds we have.  But it does go up to 20.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That would be

         17  important to know because I would like to know any

         18  20- year- old out there that will be in a Volunteer

         19  Fire Program.  I'd really like to know how many

         20  semi- adults that are at that stage.

         21                 MR. WHITE: Right.  And, obviously

         22  part of the new funding that we have is to increase

         23  that particular program in particular.  And one of

         24  the things it focuses on is classroom instruction.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Excuse me
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          2  Commissioner.  Are people given a stipend for being

          3  in Explorer?

          4                 MR. WHITE: No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It's purely

          6  volunteer.  How many hours are they involved in this

          7  Explorer Program?

          8                 MR. WHITE: I think it's 20 hours a

          9  month, I believe.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And is there

         11  anything that stipulates that they must do 20 hours

         12  a month, or they are no longer in Explorer?  How is

         13  that regulated?

         14                 MR. WHITE: They have to be coming to

         15  meetings, engaged in the sessions to be considered

         16  to continue in the program.  Yes.  But I think, the

         17  whole idea --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: As volunteers

         19  they are given that type of regiment?

         20                 MR. WHITE: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And if they don't

         22  follow that regiment, they are no longer in

         23  Explorer?

         24                 MR. WHITE: Well it would be hard to

         25  reject young people, even after those young people
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          2  are not -- you know, they may have all kinds of

          3  family situations that we would want to keep them in

          4  the program, nevertheless.  So, we don't like to do

          5  that.  But obviously, if people are not coming to

          6  the meetings et cetera, they are not going to be

          7  part of the Exploring Program.  We issue uniforms

          8  and things of that sort and we are trying to grow

          9  that program.  You know, both that as well as the

         10  High School and I agree, that High School is in its

         11  infancy.  We are only going to get 100 out of that

         12  in three years, I would suppose, by the time of the

         13  graduating class.

         14                 I can't speak -- You know, the only

         15  thing I know anything about is the Cadet Program,

         16  which was essentially on its last legs by the time

         17  we came in and it was change of Administration.  I

         18  don't even know fully all the pieces to it and how

         19  it operated other than, you know some of that is

         20  just in the documentation of that, the documentation

         21  is not a firm documentation except for the numbers.

         22  But I think that the Exploring Program, I think what

         23  we put together its initiatives will be extremely

         24  effective.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to find
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          2  out in terms of the concerns that we have raised

          3  about the ranking of Firefighters and Firefighting

          4  candidates.  I mentioned in my opening statement

          5  that during the March 2nd hearing, Chief Hayden

          6  agreed on two points.

          7                 One was the ranking on the FDNY

          8  hiring list does not necessarily reflect differences

          9  in firefighting ability.  According to the Chief I

         10  quote, "A candidate that scores 92, if you were to

         11  compare him or her to a candidate that scored 98, it

         12  does not necessarily ensure that the candidate with

         13  the 98 will be a better Firefighter."

         14                 Secondly, he said, "The written exam

         15  does not and can not assess many of the qualities

         16  that make a person a great Firefighter, like bravery

         17  or teamwork.  In fact, this is something the

         18  Department of Justice is currently investigating."

         19                 My concern about ranking and hiring

         20  process is that not just that there is randomness in

         21  who gets hired, but also that this particular form

         22  contributes to the under- representation of

         23  minorities in the Department.

         24                 Intro. 588 would not do away with the

         25  randomness, but at least would reduce the negative
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          2  effect on minorities.  Can you think of any way to

          3  reform Firefighting ranking and hiring systems that

          4  might either reduce the randomness in rankings or

          5  the negative effect on minorities?  Have you given

          6  any consideration to that?

          7                 MR. PATITUCCI: We think about these

          8  ideas concept constantly.  I would like to point out

          9  that it is DCAS's position that the examination

         10  accurately distinguishes between those candidates

         11  who have a great deal of ability and those who have

         12  less ability.

         13                 I would also like to point out that I

         14  don't know of any formulas that we can use to answer

         15  the question that you asked Chief Hayden.  Okay.

         16  All the formulas that are used in psychometrics to

         17  make these kinds of distinctions are formulas that

         18  use statistics on the individual parts of the test

         19  and address those individual parts of the test.  If

         20  you ask me this question about the multiple choice

         21  test, I could give you a definite answer. But, as

         22  far as the eligible list is concerned, 92, 98 as I

         23  said, there are no formulas for that.

         24                 As far as the credits are concerned,

         25  the State Legislature has determined that eligible
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          2  individuals are entitled to these credits and it is

          3  DCAS's role to implement those laws.  So we have to

          4  do that, we don't have any choice in that matter.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.  Just on

          6  that whole issue of the credit, the Constitution

          7  essentially is making it clear that there is going

          8  to be a certain amount of disadvantage built in to

          9  how we ultimately get Firefighters in the City of

         10  New York.  There is going to be a disadvantage.

         11                 MR. PATITUCCI: I don't think the

         12  implementation of the credit is a disadvantage.  If

         13  you consider the credits that are actually used, or

         14  given a lot of the people, let's talk about veteran

         15  preference for instance.

         16                 Recent the Vulcan Society suggested

         17  that FDNY recruit at military bases.  And, I believe

         18  that this Council also endorsed that as a good idea

         19  because the military is a very, very ethnically

         20  diverse group of people.  Well, so are the people

         21  who are coming out of the military. Right now those

         22  individuals are eligible for veterans preference so

         23  both minorities and non minorities are eligible for

         24  this credit.  So, both groups are getting the credit

         25  so the opportunity is available to both.  So, I
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          2  don't see how that credit could be --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That's one of

          4  several different credits that are utilized.

          5                 MR. PATITUCCI: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right, but there

          7  are some that create much more of a disadvantage

          8  than others.  And if you just happen to be a person

          9  who meets several of these categories that boosts

         10  your scores and there are others who just would

         11  never have that opportunity simply because they have

         12  never been a part of a fire service or been a

         13  relative of someone who's in the fire service or

         14  been a police officer.  There are a whole bunch of

         15  other things that inherently bring a disadvantage if

         16  you are just not in there with a certain group that

         17  is. Right?

         18                 MR. PATITUCCI: Well I would just like

         19  to address the other credits, residency credit, for

         20  instance.  New York City is one of the most

         21  ethnically diverse communities in the entire

         22  country.  Many of the minorities will apply for the

         23  Firefighter exam, probably most.  Overwhelmingly

         24  most of them are New York City residents and they

         25  are entitled to this credit.
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          2                 So again, minorities have an equal

          3  opportunity at minimum of getting the residency

          4  credit as a non- minority.  So again, I don't see

          5  how this would affect the progress towards diversity

          6  within the fire department.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Because those two

          8  credits don't speak to the full spectrum of all of

          9  the credits that we are talking about here and some

         10  are weighted heavier than others.  All right.

         11                 MR. PATITUCCI: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, let's be

         13  very open there.

         14                 MR. PATITUCCI: If you would, I would

         15  like to mention the other credits that you are

         16  talking about.  There is really only veterans

         17  preference, residency credit and legacy credit.  Now

         18  legacy credit, as you know, there are two versions

         19  of it and they are both worth ten points.

         20                 The recent Firefighter eligible list

         21  has 7,460 eligible on it.  Approximately 55 people

         22  requested legacy credit, either parent or sibling

         23  legacy credit. Assuming that all 55 pass the

         24  examination that represents less than one percent of

         25  the eligible list.  So again, my feeling is that
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          2  these credits are not impacting negatively on the

          3  effort to diversify the fire department.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.  I'm not

          5  going to go on about that but, there isn't a

          6  disadvantage in the crediting.  I mean it's just by

          7  nature and not everyone is going to be a veteran,

          8  not everyone is going to be a New York City

          9  resident, not everyone is going to be part of a

         10  legacy.  There is inherently built- in a

         11  disadvantage for those who don't fall into those

         12  categories, but wish to become Firefighters.

         13                 But, the point that I'm making is how

         14  one differentiates between someone who would get

         15  like a 92 versus a 98 on the exam and where they

         16  fall in terms of randomness on the list. What is the

         17  real differentiation in terms of that person's

         18  ability to be a Firefighter.

         19                 MR. PATITUCCI: Well, the

         20  differentiation comes about as a result of the

         21  abilities that we test for and their scores on both

         22  parts of the examination.  As I mentioned in my

         23  testimony, we conducted objective job analysis we

         24  are using subject matter experts  to identify the

         25  important and critical elements of the job.
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          2                 The test is based upon those items

          3  that have been identified as being important as to

          4  the performance of the job. Now there is no

          5  examination that could be developed.  There is no

          6  examination, no matter how many sub- tests you use

          7  that will test every aspect of a job, even if it

          8  isn't a dangerous job like firefighting.  There is

          9  always some element that cannot be assessed through

         10  examination and has to be assessed on the job.  And

         11  that's of course the reason why the probationary

         12  period exists.

         13                 But, as I mentioned in my testimony,

         14  what we identify represents 80 percent of the job

         15  and for a psychometrician that is a huge amount of

         16  the job that is actually reflected by the

         17  examination.  So, we feel very comfortable that our

         18  decisions as to which candidates are qualified and

         19  which ones are not and which ones are more qualified

         20  than others based upon solid empirical evidence.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: My next question

         22  has to do with the issue of banding.  You mentioned

         23  something about the fact that we have, I guess

         24  bifurcated examination process and it would be

         25  difficult to create bands in that case because we
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          2  have a written and a physical exam.  Because it is

          3  my understanding that the NYPD has done banding

          4  previously.  Is that your understanding?  Can you

          5  give us some more detail on that?

          6                 MR. PATITUCCI: Sure, absolutely.  The

          7  NYPD, police officer examination is a one part exam.

          8    We band scored that exam from the mid 80s to the

          9  early 90s.  I was involved in some of that. It

         10  started before I started working for the City;

         11  however, I was intimately involved in it later on

         12  and then when we decided not to do it any more, I

         13  was involved in that decision too.

         14                 Again, this was a one- part exam and

         15  as I said before, all of the formulas that go into

         16  making these distinctions about whose more qualified

         17  than another person based upon exam performance, all

         18  these formulas take into consideration specific sub-

         19  tests and speaks to only specific sub- tests.

         20                 So, with the police officer exam it

         21  was easy to do. We have formulas that would

         22  calculate the band widths and 95 to 100 might be

         23  band one, 90 to 94.99 band two.  So there was really

         24  no difficulty in doing that and as I mentioned in my

         25  testimony band scoring is a psychometrically

                                                            54

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  appropriate procedure.

          3                 Firefighter is a very different

          4  story.  I'm not saying that it is impossible to do

          5  it, but as we speak I'm not sure how we would take

          6  the individual characteristic statistics

          7  from each part and fold them all into these formulas

          8  that are really designed to handle one part of an

          9  examination.  It is an interesting theoretical

         10  problem and we are looking at it and there is some

         11  disagreement in the field as to whether it would

         12  actually be appropriate to do that or not.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Could you give us

         14  a sense of what the size of the bands were in the

         15  NYPD.  And I know you are saying they are not

         16  comparable because it's a one- part exam, but can

         17  you give us a sense of that?

         18                 MR. PATITUCCI: The size of the bands

         19  again depends on the formula and that has to do with

         20  how spread out all the scores are among the

         21  candidates.  But, excuse me for one minute. We

         22  stopped doing this about ten years ago.  I am

         23  relying on memory. It was somewhere around six

         24  points, maybe seven points.  We would announce these

         25  to the candidates when we sent them their test
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          2  scores.  We would tell them in advance that we were

          3  band- scoring and then we would announce it later

          4  on.  But I say it was somewhere around six points.

          5                 Now, again it varies from exam to

          6  exam, not by a tremendous amount but, again the

          7  statistics for each exam will be slightly different.

          8    The mean score will be slightly different. The

          9  amount of their ability spread in the scores will be

         10  slightly different. But, it was roughly around six

         11  points, somewhere in that area.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Have we looked

         13  into any of the jurisdictions in the nation or maybe

         14  even in the state that use banding or pass/fail

         15  system?

         16                 MR. PATITUCCI: We have been

         17  conducting a survey for the last few months of major

         18  cities in the United States and I've seen the

         19  preliminary results.  I do not believe we've come

         20  across any of them that are doing banding at this

         21  present time.  They do all sorts of other things,

         22  but as far as I can say, I can tell right now we

         23  haven't come across it. We have gone to Los Angeles,

         24  we have contacted Los Angeles and San Francisco, I

         25  believe Miami and a few others.  We don't know of
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          2  any at the moment.  Our survey continues, so we may

          3  find one that is actually using band scoring, but,

          4  again I am not familiar with that.  We will talk to

          5  them about how they do it.  We will also ask them

          6  that question, how many competitive parts do you

          7  have to your examination.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What about

          9  pass/fail?  Have you heard of any?

         10                 MR. PATITUCCI:  Pass/fail is again an

         11  issue that really depends -- Whether a sub- test is

         12  pass/fail depends upon the weight of that particular

         13  sub- test.  If the weight is very low, that means

         14  that not much of the results from that exam will to

         15  into a candidates test score over all test scores to

         16  determine that person's list position.

         17                 But, if you have a situation like we

         18  have right now and our next job analysis will

         19  determine whether it's still the case or not, where

         20  the weight of the multiple choice says it's 50

         21  percent and the weight of the physical is 50

         22  percent, you have two major components and to make

         23  one pass/fail would not be appropriate.  Both of

         24  those test scores have to go into determining list

         25  position.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Could you please

          3  tell me the number of minorities in each thousand

          4  interval on the current FDNY hiring list?  Do you

          5  have that number?

          6                 MR. PATITUCCI: We are preparing a

          7  report for you I believe that should be ready

          8  shortly.  Yes, we should have one for you shortly.

          9  I believe the request was made a couple of days ago

         10  and we are putting that together.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Great.

         12  And, how much of a role does the written exam and

         13  the ranking procedure play in the low number of

         14  minorities in the Department?  Do you know?

         15                 MR. PATITUCCI: Well, I can tell you

         16  that on the last exam we had an 85 percent pass rate

         17  among just black candidates. It was much higher than

         18  that, well not much higher, but it was a little bit

         19  higher than that for minorities altogether.  So,

         20  what we are saying here is right now, because we've

         21  made -- I think the last time that I met with you I

         22  said we were tweaking the exam, we were working with

         23  it, we were doing various things to try to make the

         24  test not only more job related, but take some of the

         25  reading out that wasn't necessary, so it wasn't just
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          2  a reading test.

          3                 We are passing 85 percent of our

          4  black candidates. I mean could you imagine if we had

          5  6,000 black candidates taking the test?  How many of

          6  these candidates would now appear on our eligible

          7  list.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You know, the

          9  challenge is not necessarily the fact the numbers of

         10  passing.  I think it has to do with the weight of

         11  the list, the timing it takes to be able to get on a

         12  job.

         13                 MR. PATITUCCI: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And, if you have

         15  individuals who by examination are fit, from what we

         16  can tell, based on these examinations both physical

         17  and written, fit to become Firefighters, but it

         18  takes a certain amount of time, that is where it

         19  becomes a challenge.  And, in a city like the City

         20  of New York where you have very high unemployment

         21  rates and your life's ambition may be to become a

         22  Firefighter, but your personal circumstances say you

         23  know, I've got to go out and do something else for

         24  my family, a wait of we don't know how many years,

         25  can be discouraging.
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          2                 So that's where I think the crux of

          3  the challenge is in terms of dealing with this

          4  examination and dealing with how we go about, you

          5  know, I guess getting folks onto the job.

          6                 Let me ask a question about the

          7  State's Civil Service law.  We know that it requires

          8  competitive examination to ascertain merit and

          9  fitness.  I think you have driven that point home

         10  for us.  But, only as far as practicable.  That's

         11  the terminology we've been given.

         12                 However, the Chief of the Department

         13  has acknowledged that the ranking on the FDNY's

         14  hiring list often does not in fact reflect

         15  differences in merit and fitness.  Wouldn't this

         16  suggest at least as far as the hiring and ranking

         17  procedures are now organized as a competitive

         18  examination is not practicable to determine merit

         19  and fitness to be a Firefighter?

         20                 MR. PATITUCCI: I think not.  I think

         21  what the law's referring to is that if there are

         22  elements of a job that cannot be tested for and

         23  those elements represent the overwhelming percentage

         24  of the job, there may be other alternatives to

         25  competitive testing. That's not the case with
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          2  Firefighter.

          3                 As I said, we represented 80 percent

          4  of the job through our job analysis and that is a

          5  huge portion of the job  that is testable, okay.

          6  There may be positions that with the abilities that

          7  I identified cannot be tested in any way, and as a

          8  result you may have to create a non- competitive

          9  title.  And then, as I'm just being reminded in

         10  order to create a non- competitive title, you need

         11  permission from the New York State Civil Service.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right, right.

         13  Can you give us a sense of what you mean, I haven't

         14  taken an exam, I haven't even viewed one, but can

         15  you give us a sense of how you're able through your

         16  psychometrics, I suppose, to capture 80 percent of

         17  what is required to become a Firefighter in the exam

         18  itself?  How is that constructed.  Can you give us a

         19  sense of that?

         20                 MR. PATITUCCI: Well it starts by

         21  identifying all of the components of the job that

         22  are important.  We do this to job analysis

         23  interviews, we do field visits, we bring panels in

         24  and then we construct a survey that includes all of

         25  the tasks, all of the abilities that we've been told
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          2  are performed on the job.

          3                 The purpose of that survey is to

          4  allow subject matter experts, in this case nearly

          5  200, to tell us, to rate these tests in terms of how

          6  important they are performed, how frequently they

          7  are performed.  Then we statistically analysis the

          8  results of those surveys; we have criteria levels

          9  for what should survive, what shouldn't survive and

         10  then we bring in a panel of item writers and our own

         11  experience examiners get together and decide how we

         12  can go about testing for particular ability.

         13                 Some are easier than others.  We know

         14  right away that if you have to read and understand

         15  departmental orders, obviously reading is involved.

         16  Others require that, for instance, I was talking

         17  about deductive reasoning.  Then they be a general

         18  principal of the department, you don't do this in a

         19  particular situation.  So we know that when we

         20  construct a question for that, we are going to give

         21  them some kind of instructions on what you can do

         22  and what you can't do and then present the situation

         23  and see what they will actually do, if they will

         24  follow the instructions for that.

         25                 So, over time we come to learn or
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          2  identify certain formats that work very well in

          3  certain situations.  And, other formats that don't

          4  work well we get rid of them and we try to come up

          5  with new formats.  Right now, I mentioned we are

          6  reducing reading, where reading is not necessary.

          7  We are going to more graphic kinds of exams, more

          8  pictures, more of the type of thing that you would

          9  see on the job, in the field.

         10                 Now again, we have to be very careful

         11  here because this is an open competitive

         12  examination, we cannot test the technical knowledge.

         13    We are always testing for those underlying generic

         14  abilities that permit you to learn what you are

         15  expected to learn in fire academy and then out on

         16  the job.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm going to have

         18  my Counsel, he's got a question for you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Sure.

         20                 MR. UNGER: Hi, Assistant

         21  Commissioner.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: State your name

         23  for the record.

         24                 MR. UNGER: Russell Unger, Counsel to

         25  the Committee.
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          2                 You know, we've had a couple of

          3  pieces of criticism about the way how the ranking

          4  and hiring process works. We have the Chief of the

          5  Department saying that he couldn't say that there

          6  was a meaningful difference between someone who

          7  scores, who on the overall hiring list has a 92

          8  compared to someone who is 98.  He couldn't tell the

          9  Committee, the person with the 92 is a better

         10  candidate.

         11                 We have also the Chief and also

         12  Deputy Commissioner White saying, everyone who is on

         13  that list is capable of being an effective

         14  Firefighter.  That's why there is passing grades.

         15  We know that every single person who is eligible

         16  from the 1999 hiring list was eventually offered a

         17  position.  So many passed background checks, so we

         18  have offered Firefighters all the way down the list

         19  doing it.  And so what it suggests is that, you

         20  know, when you also even add in the bonus points,

         21  you have a ranking system where people are given

         22  numerical rankings, but really you can't say that

         23  someone is better who is at the top and that might

         24  not be as the Chair said, in itself that's

         25  unfortunate, but it's particularly problematic
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          2  because the result is it, particularly minorities,

          3  aren't hired because of this.  It's not they aren't

          4  hired because they are not as good, they are not

          5  hired because they are randomly kind of at the

          6  bottom of the list, or tend to be low on the list.

          7                 So, it's a very kind of general

          8  question.  Isn't there a way that we could, you

          9  know, get something, reduce some of this randomness

         10  or get something would not have such negative

         11  effects on minorities?

         12                 MR. PATITUCCI: Well first of all I

         13  would like to say that I didn't disagree with Chief

         14  Hayden, as a matter of fact I think I said the same

         15  thing that he said, if your quote is correct and

         16  that is we can't determine that.  That doesn't mean

         17  that a relationship doesn't exist.  It means that

         18  our formulas are not capable of determining, because

         19  again they are geared towards single part

         20  examinations and not the combinations of scores as

         21  to whether 92 represents less ability than a 98 let

         22  us say, okay.

         23                 So I'm not disagreeing with the Chief

         24  and I'm not trying to give you conflicting

         25  information.  It sounds like I'm agreeing with
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          2  exactly what he said.  We can't determine that

          3  through our formulas and I think it would be remiss

          4  of me, okay, or I think I should not take the chance

          5  of saying yes or no, if I can't show you

          6  quantitatively or empirically what the difference

          7  is, or if there is a distinction.

          8                 Obviously I believe there is.  I

          9  think even with the implementation of these credits,

         10  I believe that the people at the top of the list are

         11  the best candidates.  That's my particular feeling.

         12  I know we did a lot of work.  We spent a tremendous

         13  amount of time identifying the best candidates to

         14  our assessment process.

         15                 I think also you should know that

         16  everybody on the eligible list has the potential of

         17  being a good Firefighter. That's why they're on the

         18  eligible list.  But when we give a test we are

         19  saying the probability is that these individuals

         20  will be able to perform the job.  Every test

         21  involves a probability.  It is an estimate.  It is a

         22  prediction.  So there may be a few people that turn

         23  out that they can't do it.  They cannot apply the

         24  ability they have to the job and then others who may

         25  be able to apply it better than their list position
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          2  indicates.

          3                 I also want to point out something

          4  else too that we talked about a couple of things.

          5  Number one we said the pass mark for the written

          6  test was 80, I believe.  It is 70, (2043) the pass

          7  mark was 70 and also just using the last list as an

          8  example, you don't have to be in the top 80 percent

          9  of the top 20 percent of the list rather, to be

         10  considered for appointment.

         11                 If we use the last list as an example

         12  because I think when that list was terminated there

         13  were only 700 people left on that list.  So the Fire

         14  Department went through that entire list, really.

         15  Okay, so being on the list, even if you are in the

         16  second half of the list, may not be the way it was

         17  20 years ago. I think that you still have a very

         18  good opportunity being considered for appointment.

         19  Assuming that this trend continues, that started

         20  with 2043.

         21                 MR. UNGER: So if minorities are

         22  systematically more likely to be lower down on the

         23  list, are you saying that because -- you're saying

         24  that they have a less probability of being effective

         25  Firefighters?
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          2                 MR. PATITUCCI: No, I just said that

          3  the list is more likely to be used in its entirety

          4  or close to its entirety. Therefore, everybody on

          5  the eligible list has a pretty good shot at being

          6  considered if 2043 is an example and I would never

          7  say that minorities are more likely to be in the

          8  bottom half of the list.

          9                 MR. UNGER: No, I'm not saying --  No,

         10  you said before that you believe the people who are

         11  hirer on the list, you believe they are better

         12  likely to be able to be effective Firefighters.  The

         13  more likely to be effective Firefighters.

         14                 MR. PATITUCCI: That's the point of

         15  ranking them --

         16                 MR. UNGER: And at the top of the

         17  list, they are more likely to not be minorities.

         18  Minorities tend to be lower down on the list.

         19                 MR. PATITUCCI: No, I disagree with

         20  that.

         21                 MR. UNGER: Factually that's

         22  inaccurate, you're saying?

         23                 MR. PATITUCCI: Well, you need to look

         24  at the data that we present to you and draw your own

         25  conclusions from that.  I only did a cursory review
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          2  of that but, as I sit here today I would not say

          3  that most of the minorities are at the bottom of the

          4  list. I would not say that.

          5                 MR. UNGER: What we have been told is

          6  a disproportionate number are at the bottom of the

          7  list.

          8                 MR. PATITUCCI: Then I think you need

          9  to look at the data when we present it to you.  I

         10  think there is a lot of misinformation being

         11  presented.  I think a lot of people are using

         12  information that is very old.  Things change.

         13                 MR. UNGER:  If it does, it is indeed

         14  the case and we will see the information that

         15  minorities are disproportionately lower on the list.

         16    That will suggest two possibilities.  Either your

         17  test isn't accurate assessing firefighting ability

         18  or you're saying that, or the implications that

         19  minorities are less able to be Firefighters and I

         20  don't think that's accurate.  It's probably the

         21  first, that the test is assessing things other than

         22  firefighting ability.  That's my suggestion.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me first of

         24  all thank you because you've certainly shed more

         25  light on this issue of the exams than we have been

                                                            69

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  able to get in a long time.  And I look forward to

          3  the information that you will be sending to us so

          4  that we can have an even further examination of this

          5  matter.

          6                 I want to move now to discuss the

          7  women's bathrooms and showers and I can appreciate

          8  your testimony in terms of the budget and what it

          9  takes.  But, again, you know, I have to stress that

         10  part of the challenge of recruitment of women to the

         11  Department is that the Department has not adjusted

         12  to a large extent to address an environment that

         13  makes it welcoming to women.

         14                 I am glad to see that first of all

         15  there was a gross exaggeration about how many

         16  facilities have been already put in place.  I guess

         17  what I'm looking for from you now is I guess an

         18  assurance that the rest of the work that needs to be

         19  done is a part of the Capital Plan and I know as

         20  priorities spring up here and there you will have to

         21  modify that, but that we are well on track to making

         22  sure that all of our houses have created this

         23  environment for women to become a part of the

         24  Department.  Can you give me that assurance?

         25                 MR. FISCHBERGER: Well the Department
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          2  has an allocation of close to $5 million over the

          3  next five years.  We work as you know with DDC on

          4  Capital Projects. They are responsible to make sure

          5  that our requests are in fact carried out, we hope

          6  again, as probably by July. I said before that we'd

          7  be up to 56 percent, which is about 125 out of 219

          8  houses will have facilities for female Firefighters.

          9    It will be 56 percent by the end of the calendar

         10  year.

         11                 There are currently four houses that

         12  are slated that will undergo a gut rehab that will

         13  hit in Fiscal year '07.  But, '06 through '08, '09

         14  and '10 we're hoping to bring the numbers up to just

         15  about 180 plus houses out of the 219, which is

         16  barring anything unforeseen and the houses are old,

         17  but barring anything unforeseen and the houses are

         18  old, we're talking about close to 90 percent of the

         19  houses.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, I want to

         21  encourage you to keep your eye on that prize and I

         22  want to thank you for your testimony here today.

         23  Let me move to ask some questions about the recent

         24  allocation of funding for recruitment and as I've

         25  said, I think it's a wonderful beginning that this

                                                            71

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Administration has shown its commitment through its

          3  dedicated funding.

          4                 I understand that most of the money

          5  will be for seven additional personnel in the

          6  recruitment unit.  Could you give us a sense Deputy

          7  Commissioner White, what these personnel will be

          8  doing?

          9                 MR. WHITE: You know, I didn't realize

         10  that we were going to get that specific about those

         11  job descriptions.  I just can tell you that, I don't

         12  really have that information but, I do know that one

         13  person will be a Fire Captain in that we need a fire

         14  Captain for oversight over the field force, if you

         15  will, the people working in the field.  We need

         16  someone of rank to do that.  I know we have a Deputy

         17  Director of that unit. I know one person will be

         18  primarily dealing with Exploring Program, but I

         19  don't have the job descriptions in front of me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  You are

         21  still sort of working through --

         22                 MR. WHITE: We actually have pretty

         23  much agreed on I think three of the people.  I just

         24  don't remember the job descriptions of those

         25  individuals and we are also interviewing Captains at
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          2  this time.  I suppose in probably two or three weeks

          3  we will probably will have hired all of those.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          5                 MR. WHITE: All right.  I can provide

          6  that to you. I can send it over to you tomorrow or

          7  something like that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That would be

          9  great.

         10                 Do you have more detail on the new

         11  recruitment centers?

         12                 MR. WHITE: No, we don't have new

         13  information on the new recruitment centers.  We are

         14  going to have to designate areas where we are going

         15  to be recruiting, what kind of high schools. You

         16  know, we want to use what we learned from the

         17  previous campaign to refine that as much as

         18  possible.

         19                 As you probably know, one of the

         20  things we did a lot of was we recruited at junior

         21  colleges as an example.  One of things we want to do

         22  is to have a fair amount of repetition on a regular

         23  basis because we all know that one of the biggest

         24  things we learned about the whole campaign and the

         25  recruitment was that how important mentoring is for
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          2  instance.  So if you have a location, you need to

          3  have a team of people there on a very regular basis

          4  so they get to know the people on a regular basis

          5  who are coming through there.

          6                 Let's say if you are using a junior

          7  college.  You don't want them there once a month.

          8  You may want them there twice a week.  That kind of

          9  thing.  And that's what we think is a factor. So we

         10  are going to spend a lot of time trying to determine

         11  where is the best locations to do that.  So that's

         12  why I can't answer your question.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can you give us

         14  an indication of how the Explorer Program will

         15  change now that it finally has funding?  Do you see

         16  significant changes coming about?

         17                 MR. WHITE: Well, one of the things is

         18  that we need-  One of the effective ways of

         19  recruitment is to have Firefighters create chapters.

         20    Some people do that and we have in the past. Some

         21  people have done that because they just love doing

         22  it and they want to do it.  But we also like to have

         23  some money to be able to pay some overtime for

         24  people to do that.  It's not a lot, but it's to be

         25  able to say, this is what you do.  You create a
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          2  unit, you will be paid something to do that as well.

          3    That's one of the reasons we think that we can

          4  expand that dramatically.

          5                 You know, in this case it may be

          6  people who are members of a particular church who

          7  want to create an Exploring Program in their church.

          8    But for the lack of a better word it is really

          9  overtime, but call it like a small stipend to create

         10  those units.  And, of course some of that money will

         11  be used as well for uniforms and things of that

         12  sort.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Have you sort of

         14  determined how large this program would be.

         15                 MR. WHITE: Well, we haven't really

         16  determined.  We just got the money.  So, we have to

         17  make a thoughtful decision about it and so I can't

         18   -- those are on- going discussions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you think it's

         20  something you can build upon the current

         21  infrastructure you have so far.

         22                 MR. WHITE: Yes, I do think so.  I

         23  think that that's ---

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  How widespread

         25  is the current program?
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          2                 MR. WHITE: It's in every borough.  We

          3  have 121 Explorers.  Originally we were hoping to

          4  build towards about 300 Explorers very quickly.  And

          5  now we can do that, as an example. Maybe it will be

          6  more than that, I don't know, but that was the

          7  original idea to build toward 300.  But that was

          8  even before we had this funding, we were trying to

          9  do that, but we found out it was hard to do for a

         10  range of reasons.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  I notice

         12  that the budget does not explicitly include money

         13  for advertising.

         14                 MR. WHITE: No, it doesn't.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are we expecting

         16  the Arnell Group to again donate advertising

         17  expertise and space?

         18                 MR. WHITE: Anyone who would like to

         19  donate some space we will take it from them.  It

         20  doesn't have to be Arnell, it could be anyone who

         21  really wants to do that.  We certainly will ask them

         22  to do it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  So, is

         24  there within the plan I guess some indication of

         25  establishing relationships with advertising firms
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          2  again so that you have the compliment of advertising

          3  and marketing while doing all these other things.

          4                 MR. WHITE: Yes, and I believe a call

          5  has already been made to Arnell about that anyway.

          6  But, as I said, we don't have to deal exclusively

          7  with Pete Arnell's outfit.  We'll take it from a lot

          8  of different places.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  As my

         10  mother would say, no one likes to look a gift horse

         11  in the mouth.

         12                 MR. WHITE: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: But I think that

         14  it's important if we also look at successful efforts

         15  of advertising in communities of color and how we

         16  can draw on some of the successes of perhaps other

         17  firms in being able to draw things to the attention

         18  of communities that may not have had that type of

         19  exposure.  I mean I use this analogy all the time.

         20  I can tell you when the latest hip hop album is

         21  going to be released months in advance because every

         22  morning when I drive to work I am bombarded with the

         23  imagery of the next coming album.

         24                 I would love to see that sort of

         25  imagery around the next exam for Firefighters in my
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          2  community.  If we could parallel that in some form

          3  or fashion, I think every community in this City

          4  could be well served by having something that

          5  attractive, which I believe the job really is very

          6  attractive, placed in our community. So perhaps

          7  maybe having some conversations with some other

          8  firms may be looking at establishing some

          9  collaborative relationships with the Arnell Group

         10  and some groups that are more familiar with

         11  advertising in communities of color may help in

         12  terms of a sustained effort what you've been

         13  speaking about.  We do need a sustained effort

         14  because it's not like Firefighters recruited every

         15  day in our community.

         16                 MR. WHITE: Well I think there are two

         17  things. Remember we had only been in office about

         18  six months before the campaign started the last time

         19  so we do have much more time to do this and we did

         20  learn something from the last one.  I mean, it is

         21  very, very difficult to -- I mean advertisers, I've

         22  had many conversations over the years with people

         23  like Bill Tatem of the Amsterdam News about

         24  advertising in the Amsterdam News, about arranging

         25  these things and how little money often in terms of
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          2  the advertising dollars go to those local

          3  newspapers.  So I've had those conversations.  I

          4  understand what you are talking about     to the

          5  extent to which we have that promotional money we

          6  could use it for those purposes.  But, we also are

          7  interested in getting as many freebies as we can.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You know I have a

          9  problem with doing stuff on a cheap beat but often

         10  times what you invest is what you get back.

         11                 MR. WHITE: I know Madam Chair, I do

         12  too.  The problem is, if you have the money we'll

         13  use it.  But there is not that much money in the

         14  budget for that kind of advertising.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  I just

         16  sort of wanted to bring that to your attention and

         17  quite frankly I don't think that the Department

         18  ought to rely on that moment, or window of

         19  opportunity before every exam to generate some

         20  excitement in our communities around this

         21  occupation, certainly NYPD does not do that and

         22  neither does the military.  They are constantly

         23  advertising and bombarding our communities with the

         24  opportunities that exist within those areas and I

         25  think the FDNY is just as lovely an occupation and
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          2  should certainly be promoted in the same way.  And,

          3  that's all that I'm saying.

          4                 I hope that, you know, Commissioner

          5  Scoppetta will see that as well and that you will

          6  certainly bring that to his attention.  When you do

          7  something piece- meal and last minute, you get the

          8  result of piece- meal and last minute.  I think that

          9  we've seen the result of that and that you do have

         10  the experience of knowing now.  Because we did do a

         11  last minute we've got to build up the ranks type of

         12  activities the last time.

         13                 We do have the results of that and so

         14  it is time to try something new and perhaps to build

         15  into everything that we are talking about in terms

         16  of recruitment, a campaign that is ongoing, that is

         17  sustainable.  I'm not saying there has to be

         18  expensive or anything of that case, but if you come

         19  to someone's community once every three years to do

         20  recruitment that does not generate a whole lot of

         21  endearment necessarily to the possibility of

         22  becoming a member of the FDNY.

         23                 Let me ask, I wanted to sort of go

         24  back to the women's bathroom and showers real

         25  quickly.
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          2                 There were a couple of concerns that

          3  came up. Women Firefighters are concerned about the

          4  amount of time it takes to install bathroom

          5  facilities once they are stationed at a firehouse.

          6  In one case, for example, it took over a year for a

          7  woman Firefighter to get a bathroom.

          8                 Is there anything that can be done to

          9  speed up the process or has the Department, this is

         10  the other question.  Has the Department sort of

         11  reviewed where they are actually posting women, in

         12  advance, so that they know what the facility

         13  situation is?  I mean we don't want to disadvantage

         14  anyone, but given the situation that you are in

         15  right now, you have over 50 percent of the houses

         16  done.  If you are not able to expedite renovation in

         17  a particular post, what measures are being taken to

         18  expedite that, put it on fast track or make sure

         19  that people are posted where they can be

         20  accommodated.

         21                 MR. FISCHBERGER: All right, you asked

         22  two questions, so let me answer the first one first.

         23

         24                 On terms of the renovation, we rely

         25  on DDC.  I'd rather have David Bernie (phonetic)
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          2  address why it takes anywhere between a year to

          3  fifteen months from beginning to end.  There is

          4  design, there is bidding out, there all kinds of

          5  procurement rules that are involved with contracting

          6  out, especially when I am talking about large

          7  contracts like this.  See he is better able to

          8  explain why it goes from start to finish, why it may

          9  take over a year for the process to take place.

         10                 As far as posting a Firefighter where

         11  we currently have the female bathroom, it's an

         12  operational question.  I'm the facility guy.  So, I

         13  would rather let someone else address it and just

         14  leave it like that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: A point well

         16  taken.  Could you explain the nature of these

         17  facilities, that is who is using these facilities,

         18  where there are no women in the firehouse and are

         19  there signs designating some facilities for women

         20  and other for men?

         21                 MR. FISCHBERGER: Probably at the end

         22  of today or certainly by the end of this week, I had

         23  directed all of my staff to make sure that signage

         24  is posted on all the bathrooms indicating that it is

         25  a female Firefighter facility.
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          2                 Obviously, when there is no female in

          3  the house, that bathroom should be used.  I don't

          4  want a bathroom sitting around not being used.  But

          5  there are signs posted.  It's up to the officers at

          6  the house to ensure that if someone has detail

          7  there, if a female is detailed there, that they have

          8  the use of that bathroom, solely have use of that

          9  bathroom.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm sorry, I was

         11  so into this hearing that I neglected to acknowledge

         12  that my colleague Council Member David Yassky had

         13  also joined us as well as Council Member Tony

         14  Avella.  Let me ask Council Member Yassky to bring

         15  his questions and comments at this time.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well, thank

         17  you Chair Clarke.  Really your questions have really

         18  gotten to the heart of this so I don't want to

         19  duplicate.  I just want to say that I support you

         20  fully in what you are trying to do.  I think this is

         21  extremely important conflict that you have taken on

         22  and I stand ready to work with you and support you

         23  as a Member of your Committee because I would like

         24  to see these goals achieved.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you Council
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          2  Member Yassky.

          3                 Let me ask another question.  I've

          4  heard that there is sometimes problems for women

          5  even in firehouses where there are extra bathrooms

          6  and shower facilities.  For example, I've heard that

          7  sometimes a ladder company will claim one bathroom

          8  and an engine company will claim another.

          9                 Alternatively, I've heard that the

         10  second bathroom and shower facility is sometimes

         11  reserved for the officers.  I've even heard that

         12  there is pornography in some of these bathrooms. I'm

         13  not suggesting that extra bathrooms be reserved for

         14  women even if they are not present in the firehouse,

         15  but what can be done to ensure that such bathrooms

         16  are available for women without any, you know, fuss

         17  or fight.

         18                 MR. FISCHBERGER: As I just said,

         19  signage is being put up.  It's probably finished

         20  either today or certainly by the end of this week

         21  and it is the Officer's responsibility.  As part of

         22  an Officer's responsibility, also on their annual

         23  inspection, E.O. Issues are not being addressed.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you

         25  consider enacting regulations to govern bathroom
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          2  issues when women are stationed at a firehouse?  Is

          3  that part of what is taking place once the Officer

          4  is put in --

          5                 MR. FISCHBERGER: Well, it's part of

          6  the Officer's responsibility to make sure that E.O.

          7  Standards are in fact met.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.  We

          9  received word that the FDNY recently budgeted for

         10  women's bathroom and shower facilities averaged out

         11  to about $85 thousand dollars each.  Is that due to

         12  the age of many of our firehouses?  Is that why it's

         13  so costly?

         14                 MR. FISCHBERGER:  We'll have to take

         15  you to a firehouse to see what shape it's in.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I've got one

         17  right around the corner from me.  It's a wreck.  I

         18  don't know what's going on in there.

         19                 MR. FISCHBERGER: Is that the one on

         20  Rogers Avenue?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: That's right.

         22                 MR. FISCHBERGER: Oh, I've been there.

         23                 You know that our facilities are very

         24  old. Unfortunately, they've probably been neglected

         25  for many, many years.  A bathroom is not necessarily
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          2  always where you want it to be.  You need a water

          3  source for a bathroom.  There are old hose towers

          4  which we use, which means that there are structural

          5  issues that we have to get into when we put a

          6  bathroom in.  Obviously, if we had new firehouses,

          7  these become moot issues.  Unfortunately, because

          8  they are old we wind up dealing with structural

          9  issues once we start putting bathrooms in.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, gentlemen,

         11  I want thank you for your testimony here today, it

         12  has been quite illuminating. I look forward to

         13  continued conversation along these lines.  I want to

         14  wish you good luck there Deputy Commissioner.

         15  You've got a great initiative ahead of you here and

         16  I know that you are going to be receiving a lot of

         17  support to make sure that your efforts are

         18  successful.  And, likewise I look forward to seeing

         19  all of the bathrooms put in for our women

         20  Firefighters and continued conversations around

         21  testing for the FDNY.  Thank you all very much for

         22  your testimony here today.

         23                 MR. WHITE:  Thank you Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: (Microphone not

         25  turned on)
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          2   -- all of which I believe is important to hear so

          3  that we can do an informed process here in the City

          4  of New York in terms of developing policies around

          5  diversity and the FDNY is a wonderful case study in

          6  how we can go about making things happen in the City

          7  of New York.

          8                 Having said that I'd like to ask Pete

          9  Gorman of the Uniformed Fire Officers Association,

         10  President Gorman.  I'd like to call David Rosenzweig

         11  of the Fire Alarm Dispatchers Association and to mix

         12  it up a little bit I'd like to call Abraham May,

         13  Jr., Executive Director of the Equal Employment

         14  Practices Commission and we'd like to call Paul

         15  Washington as well, of the Vulcan Society.

         16                 In the order in which I've called

         17  your names if you would begin giving your testimony

         18  and welcome here this afternoon.

         19                 MR. GORMAN: Thank you.  Good

         20  afternoon Chairwoman Clarke and Members of the

         21  Committee.  Well, good afternoon Chairwoman Clarke.

         22  My name is Pete Gorman, President of the Uniformed

         23  Fire Officers Association, representing 2,500

         24  Lieutenants, Captains, Battalion Chiefs, Deputy

         25  Chiefs and Supervising Fire Marshals of the FDNY.
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          2                 We have reviewed Intro. Nos. 587, 588

          3  and 589.  We have no objection to the Fire Cadet

          4  Program.  We share the Department and the Council

          5  desire to increase diversity in the Fire Department.

          6    We are prepared to work with the Department and

          7  the Council to further this worthy goal.

          8                 But this worthy goal should not serve

          9  as a pretext for subverting the Civil Service

         10  System.  The UFOA opposes Intro. No. 588 and

         11  believes that its adoption would be contrary to both

         12  Article V, Section 6 of the New York Constitution

         13  and Civil Service Law Section 61.

         14                 More than a century ago, the Civil

         15  Service System was created to require that

         16  appointments in public service be based on merit and

         17  fitness rather than political influence.  Article V,

         18  Section 6 of the New York State Constitution

         19  requires that, as far as practicable, the merit and

         20  fitness of a candidate for appointment and

         21  promotions in the Civil Service be ascertained by

         22  competitive examination.  The Civil Service law was

         23  enacted to implement this constitutional

         24  requirement.  Section 61 of the Civil Service law

         25  provides that "appointment or promotion to an
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          2  eligible list to a position in the competitive class

          3  shall be made by the selection of one of the three

          4  persons certified by the appropriate Civil Service

          5  Commission as standing highest on each eligible list

          6  who are willing to accept such appointment or

          7  promotion."

          8                 Intro. 588 would enact a new Section

          9  15- 129 of the Administrative Code which would

         10  establish two zones from the list of Firefighter

         11  candidates: The "high zone" comprised of the top

         12  scoring 50 percent and the "low zone" comprised of

         13  the bottom scoring 50 percent of the candidates.

         14  Within each zone, the candidates would be randomly

         15  ranked.  This flies in the face of the concept of

         16  merit and fitness.

         17                 The Court of Appeals in McGowan v.

         18  Burstein, 71 N.Y. 2d 729 (1988), expressed concern

         19  about any system of zone scoring:

         20   "Preliminarily, we note our agreement with the

         21  courts below that zone scoring poses a threat to the

         22  competitive examination process that serves as the

         23  foundation of the merit system.  The use of overly

         24  broad zones could negate the competitiveness of this

         25  test, allow too much room for the subjective
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          2  judgments of appointing authorities and invite

          3  personal and political influence into the selection

          4  process."

          5                 Intro. 588 adopts the most extreme

          6  form of zone scoring where there are only two

          7  scores.  Without question, these are "overly broad

          8  zones, which would negate the competitiveness of the

          9  test."  Such a system cannot be reconciled with the

         10  Constitutional requirement of merit and fitness.  It

         11  is patently inconsistent with Civil Service Law

         12  Section 61, which requires that one of the three

         13  persons standing highest on an eligible list be

         14  appointed.

         15                 We must do better than this.  We must

         16  together develop better measures to advance our

         17  joint interest in furthering the diversity of the

         18  Fire Department.  But we must do so in a way that

         19  permits us to preserve the merit system which is

         20  Constitutionally required.  We cannot afford a

         21  system of appointments to the Fire Department in

         22  which considerations other than merit and fitness

         23  determine who is appointed.  We need the most

         24  qualified applicants to join the Fire Department.

         25                 The key to diversity in the Fire
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          2  Department is recruitment.  We will work with the

          3  Fire Department and the City to recruit an applicant

          4  pool as broad and as diverse as the population of

          5  the City of New York.  We must do this if we are to

          6  obtain the most qualified applicants who will

          7  continue to make the Fire Department the most

          8  effective firefighting force in the world. Thank

          9  you.

         10                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Madam Chair.  I am

         11  Dave Rosenzweig. I guess I am wearing a few hats

         12  here today.  I am the President of the Fire Alarm

         13  Dispatchers Benevolent Association and I am also a

         14  Past President of the Civil Service Merit Council.

         15                 I am here today with 35 years of work

         16  experience in the New York City Fire Department

         17  through Civil Service appointments, as a young man,

         18  as a veteran to tell you, that if you want to serve

         19  the citizens of New York and do the right thing and

         20  diversify, the Civil Service System has the right

         21  ingredients to do that.  Basically, it's about merit

         22  and it's about fitness.  And I think the Fire

         23  Department test in the way that it's designed does

         24  both of those quite adequately.

         25                 Our biggest problem in regards to
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          2  diversity has to do with the number of candidates

          3  that actually take the test.  I know you have

          4  concentrated an awful lot on trying to figure out

          5  how the placement of the candidate will be on a

          6  list, as an example, or how we can create a program

          7  to diversify the Fire Department. But, the real

          8  facts are and those numbers were not exhibited here

          9  today at all, is that there are not enough minority

         10  candidates taking the exam.  And I think that's the

         11  issue.  Why are they not taking the exam?   They

         12  have the equal opportunity to file.  In some cases

         13  even more opportunity because they get the

         14  opportunity to take the test at no charge.  And

         15  still they are not showing up for the exam. When we

         16  are talking about thousands of applications being

         17  distributed they don't show up the day to take the

         18  test. That's a reality.  That's a real fact, okay.

         19                 And, the other problem is, which

         20  contributes just as much to those candidates that

         21  did take the test, they cannot wait three years to

         22  find out whether or not we are going to employ them.

         23  The whole process takes too long.  It has the

         24  ingredients of finding some other occupation and

         25  moving into life much quicker than waiting to be
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          2  called to be a New York City Firefighter, okay.

          3                 Now, in regard to the Cadet Program,

          4  that program has failed terribly, because first of

          5  all in its initial phases when Tommy Von Essen, the

          6  Fire Commissioner had the first candidate class

          7  there was one Chief that was lucky enough to have

          8  two sons that one the lottery. Now, I won't question

          9  the veracity of a past Fire Commissioner but you

         10  know what, he should start buying some lotto

         11  tickets, okay, because he is a pretty lucky person.

         12  So that's the way they were selecting in the

         13  beginning and it was terrible.  It was basically a

         14  slap in the face from day one.

         15  They made the Cadet Program fail because it didn't

         16  deliver what it was supposed to deliver.  It didn't

         17  deliver diversity in the Fire Department.

         18                 The second thing is a high school for

         19  the Fire Department.  On the surface I think it's a

         20  great idea.  But, we are failing to deliver what we

         21  need, which is African American and other minorities

         22  in this City being employed in the Civil Service

         23  System.  If you make or design a school that is just

         24  going to make Firefighters, it's doomed to failure.

         25                 There is a lot of really great people
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          2  out there, young people in this City that are

          3  looking for a job and we should be concentrating on

          4  employment, not Fire Department employment, Civil

          5  Service employment.  Because once you become a Civil

          6  servant you can always take another exam, but the

          7  purpose of moving people into Civil Service is to

          8  show them, okay, how living in the low middle income

          9  bracket in this City affords certain pleasures to

         10  them, or whatever amenities that they don't have

         11  right now by being unemployed.

         12                 And that's really what the basis of a

         13  high school is.  We need a Civil Service high

         14  school, designed to provide test taking skills so

         15  that they can go in and take Civil Service tests and

         16  pass these tests in the top part of the list in all

         17  Civil Service jobs. And not design a school that's

         18  going to make you a Firefighter and if you fail what

         19  do you have.  Assume you spent three years in high

         20  school and you want to be a Firefighter and you

         21  don't fit into that for whatever reason, either in

         22  the fitness part, you know, however it works out,

         23  what do you do then?  Oh, I guess you join the Army

         24  and then come back and try again.  No.  We need a

         25  school that's going to teach skills, test taking
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          2  skills, job skills so that we can have some

          3  diversity in employment.

          4                 And I think as far as diversity goes,

          5  and I know we are trying to do the Fire Department,

          6  and I understand where you are coming from, but

          7  really aren't we trying to diversify the work force.

          8    I think we've got a whole concentration on what we

          9  are doing in regards to Civil Service is totally

         10  going awry here.  We should be looking to diversify

         11  the work force in New York City to represent the

         12  make up of the City of New York.

         13                 Yes, do we want more African

         14  Americans Firefighters? Personally, I do and I've

         15  always defended that.  Anybody sitting here knows

         16  where I come from.  You know, I'm here today

         17  primarily for two purposes.  The first purpose is

         18  I'm a survivor.  When David Dinkins was the Mayor of

         19  the City of New York he called me and quite a few of

         20  my basically co- workers, part of the white man

         21  social club.  And he wasn't ashamed that he did

         22  that.  Some of the people were not offended by it.

         23  Some of the people were.  I was one of those that

         24  was offended by it and I have tried since that day

         25  to do better.
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          2                 As an example, when David Dinkins was

          3  the Mayor the Fire Alarm Dispatchers Benevolent

          4  Association had three percent minorities, which

          5  included one woman and one Hispanic and the rest

          6  were basically African- American.  I am here today

          7  to tell you we have 51 percent today.  It's not that

          8  long ago.  But we made the necessary changes to

          9  diversify and part of that was recruitment. It means

         10  my people, skilled professionals go out and try to

         11  recruit other skilled professionals to come and join

         12  my job, because we have something to offer to them.

         13                 In addition to that we were able to

         14  change the notice of examination, allowing different

         15  skills to be qualified for the test and we were able

         16  to accomplish 51 percent, which is minorities and

         17  women. I'm proud of that accomplishment.  It can be

         18  done, but it can't be done by changing the merit and

         19  changing fitness.  It has to be done through a

         20  process where we reach out to young people that live

         21  in this City, make them understand that Civil

         22  Service is the way to go.  There is something there

         23  for them and they don't have to be Firefighters.  We

         24  would like them to be Firefighters, but you know

         25  what?  They could be working right now for the City
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          2  of New York waiting to be called for the Firefighter

          3  test, which happens all over the City.  That's what

          4  we need to do. We need to diversify the work force,

          5  you know, Civil Service in the City of New York,

          6  including Firefighters.

          7                 And my last issue is this promotion

          8  list.  I can't think of anything more demeaning to

          9  minority workers in the City of New York when you

         10  tell them, if they want to become a Firefighter you

         11  take a promotion exam and make less money.  Let me

         12  just tell you, this is a travesty if they think that

         13  diversifying the Fire Department is going to come

         14  through promoting EMTs and Paramedics. What we want

         15  in New York City is the best EMTs and Paramedics

         16  delivering pre- hospital care.  Make it a real

         17  profession where they don't have to come into the

         18  job, think they are going to work in the job for 18

         19  months when the next promotion exam comes in and

         20  then take it.  How do you think the rest of the

         21  people feel, the 2,500 EMTs and Paramedics and the

         22  500 EMT officers feel when a group of people are

         23  only delivering pre- hospital care for a very short

         24  period of time so they can become a Firefighter.

         25  How does that professionalize there group?  We
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          2  should be encouraging them to stay as EMTs and

          3  Paramedics.  We should be compensating them

          4  properly, and we are not doing that. I think it's

          5  demeaning the whole occupation.  They deliver a

          6  vital service to the City of New York and we're

          7  telling them that they are not good, you know, take

          8  the test and we'll promote you and you can make less

          9  money.  It's a joke and it's not the way to go and

         10  it has not worked by the way. It has not worked.

         11                 The Fire Department is not

         12  diversified because they gave promotion exams. You

         13  take a look and you'll see.  The numbers have

         14  increased but nowhere near what they could be.  I

         15  thank you very much for your time.

         16                 MR. MAY:  Good afternoon Councilwoman

         17  Clarke, Councilman Yassky, Council.  My name is

         18  Abraham May, Jr., I am the Executive Director of the

         19  Equal Employment Practices Commission (EEPC).

         20                 In response to your invitation to

         21  testify before your Committee, I am here to present

         22  the position of the Equal Employment Practices

         23  Commission regarding the reestablishment of a Fire

         24  Cadet Program in the New York City Fire Department

         25  as a strategy to increase the number of female and
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          2  minority Firefighters.  I am joined today by

          3  Commissioner Cherie Bogs (phonetic), Esq., my

          4  Executive Director, Mr. Eric Matusewitch, the Deputy

          5  Director of EEPC and Lisa Badner the EEPC Counsel.

          6                 The Equal Employment Practices

          7  Commission has neither reviewed nor discussed Intro.

          8  588 nor Intro. 589. Consequently, the Commission has

          9  not taken a position on these proposals.  The EEPC

         10  has previously expressed its support of the Fire

         11  Cadet Program on more than one occasion.  I am

         12  therefore pleased to re- iterate that support before

         13  this Committee.

         14                 As you know, the New York City Fire

         15  Department (FDNY) has an extremely small percentage

         16  of women and minority Firefighters.  According to

         17  data provided by the Department of Citywide

         18  Administrative Services, as of December 31, 2003,

         19  3.5 percent of all Firefighters were African-

         20  American, 4.8 percent were Hispanic, one percent

         21  were Asian- American and less than one percent were

         22  female.  The low percentages of minority

         23  Firefighters are even more startling given the

         24  number of minorities who reside in New York City.

         25                 Chapter 36, Section 831(d)(5) of the
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          2  New York City Charter authorizes the Equal

          3  Employment Practices Commission "to audit and

          4  evaluate the employment practices of each City

          5  agency and their efforts to ensure fair and

          6  effective equal employment opportunity for minority

          7  group members and women at least once every four

          8  years."

          9                 Pursuant to that mandate, the EEPC

         10  has completed two audits of the Fire Department's

         11  Recruitment Program.  The first audit covered the

         12  recruitment program for Firefighter Exam #0084 in

         13  1994; the second audit covered the recruitment

         14  program for Exam #7029 in 1999.

         15                 Prior to issuing recommendations

         16  pursuant to our audit of the Fire Department

         17  Recruitment Program for the 1994 Exam, the

         18  Commission established an Advisory Committee to

         19  recommend improvements in the Fire Department

         20  Recruitment Program.  This Advisory Committee

         21  consisted of representatives of many of the

         22  fraternal organizations within the Fire Department.

         23  Among them were: The Hispanic Society, The Vulcan

         24  Society, the United Women Firefighters, the Columbia

         25  Association, the Pulaski Association, the Emerald
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          2  Society, the Viking Society and the Steuben

          3  Association.

          4                 Former Fire Commissioner, Thomas Von

          5  Essen, who was then the president of the Uniformed

          6  Firefighters Association, was also a member of the

          7  Committee.  The purpose of the Committee was to

          8  develop recommendations for improving the

          9  recruitment of women and minority candidates for

         10  Firefighter positions.

         11                 The Committee developed eleven

         12  recommendations that were approved by this

         13  Commission.  The Commission added two additional

         14  recommendations.  One of the recommendations was

         15  that "the FDNY should create a Fire Cadet Corps

         16  Program similar to the NYPD Cadet Program, to

         17  attract future Firefighters.  The program should

         18  target high school juniors."

         19                 The 1999 audit was a follow- up to

         20  the 1994 audit. Specifically, the Commission

         21  examined recruitment strategies undertaken by the

         22  FDNY to increase the number of women and minority

         23  candidates for Firefighter Exam #7029.  In addition,

         24  the Commission determined which of the 1994 audit

         25  recommendations were implemented by the Department
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          2  and how they were implemented.

          3                 As part of this review, the

          4  Commission interviewed the heads of the Hispanic

          5  Society, the Vulcan Society and the United Women

          6  Firefighters.  These officials told EEPC auditors

          7  that the FDNY Cadet Corps Program offers one of the

          8  best opportunities for increasing the number of

          9  women and minority Firefighters.  That assertion is

         10  supported by statistics and cited in the preamble to

         11  Intro. 587.  "Seventy- three current Firefighters

         12  were once Fire Cadets, of which 45 or 58 percent are

         13  minority and three are women."

         14                 The fraternal organization officials,

         15  along with the Fire Department's former director of

         16  the Office of Employment Initiatives, recommended

         17  that Cadet Corps Program graduates be allowed to

         18  more directly into Firefighter positions by way of a

         19  promotional exam.  Although that was the original

         20  goal of this program, former Commissioner Von Essen

         21  changed that goal by hiring Cadet Corps graduates as

         22  Emergency Medical Technicians (EMTs). Therefore, one

         23  of the Commission's audit recommendations was: "FDNY

         24  should develop a plan which allows graduates of the

         25  Cadet Corps Program to take a promotional test for
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          2  Firefighter."

          3                 However in 2003, the New York State

          4  Civil Service Commission refused to approve the

          5  City's application to allow Cadets to promote

          6  directly to Firefighter.  Based on that decision,

          7  and FDNY budget cuts, Deputy Commissioner Douglas

          8  White informed the EEPC on September 29, 2004, that

          9  Commissioner Scoppetta decided to discontinue

         10  funding the program.

         11                 Deputy Commissioner White's

         12  correspondence was in response to a September 16,

         13  2004, letter under my signature, from the equal

         14  Employment Practices Commission to Mayor Bloomberg,

         15  requesting reinstatement of the cadet Corps Program.

         16    The letter stated, in part: "The Commissioners

         17  recognize the challenges of allocating limited

         18  resources to fund new programs at this time;

         19  however, they strongly believe that this program is

         20  an effective strategy to increase the number of

         21  women and minority Firefighters in the new York City

         22  Fire Department and should be reinstated."

         23                 Although the New York State Civil

         24  Service Commission decision precludes the promotion

         25  of Cadet Corps Program graduates directly to
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          2  Firefighter, the EEPC believes that a program that

          3  advances those graduates to EMTs, who will

          4  subsequently be eligible to take the Firefighter

          5  promotional exam, is still valuable.  For this

          6  reason, the Equal Employment Practices Commission

          7  endorses the reestablishment of the Fire Cadet

          8  Program as a strategy to increase the number of

          9  women and minority firefighters.

         10                 Before concluding my testimony I

         11  would like to remind some, and inform others, that

         12  last June the Equal Employment opportunity

         13  Commission found "reasonable cause" that the New

         14  York City Fire Department violated Title VII of the

         15  Civil Rights Act of 1964 by administering a test

         16  (Exam No. 7029) that found blacks disproportionately

         17  failed and that was not "validated" shown to be job-

         18  related.  This finding by the EEOC was in response

         19  to a race discrimination complaint against FDNY

         20  filed by the Vulcan Society in 2002 with the Federal

         21  Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

         22                 The complaint, generally alleges that

         23  blacks are underrepresented, in comparison with

         24  their availability, in the Fire Department and that

         25  this under representation stems from discriminatory
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          2  actions on the part of the Fire Department and New

          3  York City.  Since the Fire Department declined to

          4  enter into settlement discussions with the EEOC, the

          5  matter was recently referred to the U.S. Department

          6  of Justice.  That agency is investigating the case

          7  and will decide whether to sue the City on behalf of

          8  the Vulcan Society or issue the organization a

          9  right- to sue notice.

         10                 There were two recommendations that

         11  the FDNY refused to implement pursuant to this

         12  Commission's audit of the Recruitment Program for

         13  Firefighter Exam #7029.  One of those

         14  recommendations was that the Fire Department should

         15  conduct an adverse impact study of the thirty

         16  college credit requirement to become a Firefighter.

         17  The other recommendation was that the Fire

         18  Department should conduct an adverse impact study of

         19  the written examination for Firefighter.  That is

         20  the same written exam that was cited by the Federal

         21  Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. This

         22  concludes my testimony.

         23                 MR. WASHINGTON: Good afternoon Madam

         24  Chair.  Thank you for allowing the Vulcan Society to

         25  once again address this Committee.
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          2                 We enthusiastically support the

          3  proposed legislation.  This legislation, which will

          4  reestablish the Fire Cadet Program, reform the

          5  ranking procedure for the open competitive

          6  Firefighter entrance exam and provide for women's

          7  bathrooms in all firehouses is long overdue.

          8                 It is unfortunate that Mayor

          9  Bloomberg and Fire Commissioner Scoppetta have not

         10  only not seen fit to implement these basis programs

         11  but, in the case of the Fire Cadet Program, actually

         12  eliminated the best program FDNY has recently had to

         13  bring people of color onto the job.

         14                 We hope the Council recognizes the

         15  tremendous good the passing of this future bill will

         16  have on not only FDNY but, on all New Yorkers in

         17  general.  A Fire Department that reflects the City's

         18  diversity and provides for all it's members is good

         19  for everyone.

         20                 And before I continue, I just want

         21  everyone on the panel to know that I like you guys

         22  and what I am about to say is not personal.  But, I

         23  just want to respond to some of this legislation and

         24  to some of the arguments that are made against it.

         25                 In terms of the broad- banding issue
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          2  we always hear that we can't do this because of the

          3  Merit System, the Merit System, the Merit System.

          4  The only way that that's even a ligament argument is

          5  that this test is the only -- first of all this test

          6  is a measure of somebody's merit to fight fires and

          7  second, this is the only way that we can measure

          8  somebody's merit to fight fires.             Neither

          9  one of those cases is true.  How good you do on this

         10  test, I don't think there is anybody who has ever

         11  fought a fire, including the leader of my Union, the

         12  Captain next to me, who would say that a high mark

         13  in that test means that you are going to be a good

         14  Firefighter.  Nobody would even remotely propose

         15  that as the truth.  So to pretend that the guy who

         16  gets a 98 is going to be better than the guy who

         17  gets a 78 that's just not true.              And

         18  also we have to realize that this test can be

         19  changed.  There are many different ways to change

         20  this test and bring on more black candidates.  The

         21  broad- banding proposal that you put forth,  I think

         22  is a good one.  So we've got to get away from that

         23  it's all about merit and this test test's merit.

         24                 Let's look at some of the ways that

         25  some of the white Firefighters get on this job.
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          2  Let's look at that fellow that was involved in that

          3  situation in the Bronx.  He got on this job not from

          4  merit but because his daddy drove the Commissioner.

          5  How about so many other firemen that come on this

          6  job, there is a lot of that type of "old boys"

          7  network, what's the word, nepotism, that goes on.

          8  And we all know that's the case.  If you were the

          9  son or daughter of a Firefighter who died in the

         10  line of duty, you get five extra points.  Where is

         11  the merit involved in that?

         12                 What we have now is not a merit

         13  system, but it is a system that keeps blacks off of

         14  this job.  So we have to look at changing that and

         15  your proposal I think is a good one.  Also, we

         16  always hear about, you know, everybody wants

         17  diversity, everybody wants to change this system,

         18  but then when something is put forth, oh no, that's

         19  not the way to go.  Yes, we want to change but,

         20  that's not the way to go and also yes, we want to

         21  change but we never do anything concrete to see that

         22  change occur.

         23                 To come and say we want things to

         24  change as we have heard the Administration and

         25  others say, and do nothing about it, which we see
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          2  with all do respect, Pete, we see the unions do

          3  consistently. Always, the UFO and the union, they

          4  never want to take concrete actions that are going

          5  to bring blacks onto the job, but they always want

          6  to give lip- service and say that they do.  We see

          7  this over and over again.

          8                 And we also can't say that this is

          9  just a recruitment problem, that we have to get more

         10  blacks to come down and take the test and they will

         11  get on the job.  This last test and I don't want to

         12  start throwing around a lot of statistics, but the

         13  last test, 7.7 percent of those who sat to take the

         14  test were black.  We're coming on the job now and

         15  will continue over the life of this list to come on

         16  at three percent.  We are getting washed out and the

         17  most of that is due from that written test.  That

         18  written test puts us to the bottom of that list.

         19  Seven point seven sat for the test, took both parts

         20  of the test and we're coming on at three percent.

         21                 If it's just a recruitment issue and

         22  say we triple the numbers, the next test is not 7.7

         23  but three times 7.7 would be about 24 percent, we

         24  would still come on the job at only 9 percent. That

         25  has to change.  There is no question that this

                                                            109

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  testing procedure has to change.  It's not just the

          3  matter of getting blacks to come out to take the

          4  test.  It's not really true that we don't come out

          5  to take the test.  Seven point seven percent is not

          6  a huge number, but this test is open to people

          7  throughout the New York City area, not just New York

          8  City, it's Rockland, upstate so on and so forth.

          9  And it's the type of job that's not really

         10  attractive to most people black or white unless they

         11  have some intimate knowledge of the job.

         12                 So, it's not that we're not taking

         13  the test.  I wish the numbers were greater.  They

         14  can be greater with a serious effort and we have to

         15  remember too we're talking about overcoming, what,

         16  150 some years of discrimination.  There was what,

         17  for the first 50 years of the New York City Fire

         18  Department, the first 40 years of the New York City

         19  Fire Department, there were no blacks on the job at

         20  all.  Forty years ago, fifty years ago on this job,

         21  if you were black you slept in a separate bed.  You

         22  drank out of a cup, they threw it in the garbage,

         23  we're talking about overcoming that.  So yes we've

         24  got to put money forth to get more blacks to come

         25  out, it's only eight percent but can you really be
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          2  surprised at that.

          3                 And when they see an incidence like

          4  what just recently happened with the noose and

          5  things like that and just you, a black kid in the

          6  City, you see the trucks go by, everybody's white.

          7  Guys sometimes see me walking into the firehouse.

          8  The rigs pull into the street, 12 guys walk into the

          9  firehouse, I'm the only black one there.  They say

         10  to me afterwards, hey man, what's it like being in

         11  the firehouse, you the only black guy there?

         12                 So we've got a lot of work to do to

         13  overcome those things, but we can't just say its a

         14  recruitment effort problem.  We can't just say that

         15  we want to see these changes and not see a change.

         16  The Cadet Program was a very good program, rather it

         17  was a good program. I wouldn't say it was a very

         18  good program, but it was a good program and with

         19  some changes, with more money added to it and with

         20  some changes it could be a very good program.

         21                 And finally, I just want to say, we

         22  have to look before we start shooting down remedies

         23  and shooting down programs. We have to look at the

         24  enormity of what we are facing.  The Fire Department

         25  would have to hire 270 black Firefighters a year for
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          2  the next ten years before we just had our fair share

          3  of these jobs, 270 a year.  We're hiring about 15,

          4  20 a year right now.  So it's an enormous gap and

          5  that's with us having to wait ten years to just get

          6  our fair share of these jobs.  Our fair share of

          7  jobs that our taxes pay and that we should have.

          8                 Bottom line, you people talk about

          9  the Fire Department is a family, it's this or that.

         10  It's a job.  Bottom line this is a job.  It's a way

         11  to put your kids through college and have yourself a

         12  decent home and family.  So for us to have to get

         13  270 black Firefighters a year, we've got to do

         14  everything, even if we think maybe it won't work.

         15  We know we have budget constraints, but we have to

         16  push for every method possible and the two methods,

         17  the Cadet Program or the broad- banding of the

         18  scores, the Vulcan Society believes are two good

         19  methods to get that accomplished. Thank you for your

         20  time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank

         22  all of you for your candor and for your insight into

         23  this issue.  Of course there are many different

         24  angles and many different concerns here.  I think

         25  the one thing that we can all say is that we are
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          2  interested in seeing the Department be reflective of

          3  the City that we are and that it is possible.  The

          4  challenge now is looking at how we get at this and

          5  how we urge those who have the ability to make it

          6  happen, to make it happen.

          7                 I am encouraged by the moves that

          8  have been made recently by this Administration.  I

          9  don't know that any one person or individual can

         10  take credit for the move that has been made, but I

         11  think certainly the pressure and the heat that has

         12  been coming up under this Administration around this

         13  issue is something that they have certainly

         14  responded to.  It is our hope that, quite frankly my

         15  hope that the justice department is not going to be

         16  the determining factor here but that we can get out

         17  ahead of this thing, come up with the appropriate

         18  solutions to addressing this matter.

         19                 With respect to the issue of Intro.

         20  588, which I know is a concern particularly to the

         21  unions and just listening to DCAS with respect to

         22  what we are allowed to do by law.  I can certainly

         23  respect that.  But I think it's important that DCAS,

         24  as well as the FDNY come up with some viable

         25  alternatives.  I don't believe that the current way
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          2  that we go about examining is the only way for us to

          3  test for the ability of Firefighters in the City of

          4  New York and I personally will not stop nudging

          5  until we become much more creative and innovative in

          6  our ways of looking at how to get at the best

          7  Firefighters across- the- board in the City of New

          8  York and I know they exist.  I think we all have to

          9  know that they exist and do what we can to make sure

         10  that it happens.

         11                 So, having said that, I want to thank

         12  all of you again for your testimony here today and

         13  know that this is just an ongoing commitment that

         14  this Committee has to making sure that as this

         15  Department moves forward with its initiatives of to

         16  diversify that we come together looking how we can

         17  best help serve the City and make things happen for

         18  the people of the City of New York and indeed for

         19  the men and women of the FDNY. So thank you all very

         20  much.

         21                 We have another panel of folks who

         22  will be testifying here today.  I want to call

         23  Shayana Kadidal.  Is John Ruiz here?  I know he was

         24  here earlier. Okay. Irving McCoy, is he here. Okay.

         25                 We want to make sure that we are
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          2  concise in our presentation.  I know that there is a

          3  wealth of information and knowledge out there.  I

          4  want to make sure that we can leave room for

          5  questions if need be.

          6                 MR. KADIDAL: Shall I start?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

          8                 MR. KADIDAL: Thanks for having me

          9  again to testify. My name is Shayana Kadidal. I am

         10  an attorney at the Center for Constitutional Rights

         11  here in New York City.  We represent the Vulcan

         12  Society and a number of individual African- American

         13  applicants.  I think I will primarily rely on my

         14  written testimony, but I think a number of things in

         15  there address things that have been said today and

         16  so I would like to focus specifically on the broad-

         17  banding question.

         18                 Introduction number 588 proposes

         19  essentially to create two scoring bands.  It really

         20  astonishes me to hear the DCAS people today say that

         21  this is not really the norm for Fire Department

         22  hiring because as far as I understood it, it is the

         23  norm.

         24                 To give you one example. In Chicago

         25  the people who pass the test, the people who are
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          2  considered qualified are banded into two bands.  The

          3  people who score from 100 to 89 and then the people

          4  who score from 65 to 88.  The former people in the

          5  higher band are told to take the physical exam and

          6  when they have completed those requirements they are

          7  hired.  The people in the next band are told that

          8  they are essentially on a waiting list, that they

          9  are unlikely to get hired.

         10                 That is somewhat similar to the

         11  situation you have here in New York where people

         12  over 70 pass. People realistically in a higher

         13  section of the scoring range really are the only

         14  ones who have an opportunity to get hired.  Chicago

         15  just makes it a little bit more formalized.

         16                 I will check into this and get back

         17  to you but my understanding is that most cities do

         18  this.  It's been about two years since I spoke to

         19  most of the individuals in various sort of

         20  equivalents of the Vulcan Society in other parts of

         21  the country, but my understanding was that I think

         22  St. Louis and Boston, as well as Chicago had some

         23  form of broad- banding.  Really any place where

         24  there has been a history of litigation around the

         25  systematic use of a test.
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          2                 Ordering by scoring band rather than

          3  precise numerical scores is preferred by the

          4  professionals who design these tests because they

          5  understand that their own tests are only reliable at

          6  distinguishing candidates who are separated by wide

          7  gaps in their scores.

          8                 I'll give you another specific

          9  example.  In Chicago there was just an opinion from

         10  the District Court two weeks ago on March 22,

         11  invalidating the specific way in which they had been

         12  using their test.  One of the things that the court

         13  relied on was the statement of the testing expert

         14  there, an outside consultant, a very well known

         15  individual, Jim Utz (phonetic), probably one of the

         16  top five people in his field.  A very expensive

         17  individual as well, who said that the test there

         18  should basically be only used in 13- point bands.

         19  That was the limit of its resolution and that's a

         20  test that was refined by 20 years of litigation and

         21  an enormous amount of outside consulting money that

         22  the City had spent on it. So I think that gives you

         23  an indication of what a really professionally

         24  designed test looks like in terms of its ability to

         25  resolve.
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          2                 Here you have a test that the EOC

          3  found essentially wasn't professionally designed for

          4  all the things that the DCAS people said today.

          5  There really wasn't the systematic scientific study

          6  that was needed to establish any relationship.

          7                 The Court, in that Lewis case, Lewis

          8  v. City of Chicago, which I brought a copy of the

          9  opinion for you today, said that a score of 98

         10  couldn't be reliably distinguished from a score of

         11  85.  So think about that in the context of your

         12  proposal.

         13                 I'd like to point out one thing that

         14  I think is a little bit of a failing in the proposal

         15  and it is this.  I realize we have different numbers

         16  in terms of how far down on the list we think the

         17  City will get.  You stated something around 2,000 is

         18  the lowest list number likely to get hired.  Our

         19  estimates, based on talking to our own clients

         20  really from past list experience has been around

         21  maybe 3,500.  I think if you take the 3,500 number

         22  the two- band proposal really proposes to basically

         23  hire the same people who have been hired in the past

         24  but sort of reorder it, essentially hire them in

         25  random order.
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          2                 I think the consequence would be to

          3  not really necessarily improving the hiring rate

          4  that we've seen in the past. I think if you, you

          5  know, modified that proposal a little bit to

          6  essentially hire randomly from all the people who

          7  passed.  And, again all the people who passed are

          8  presumptively competent and the City essentially

          9  hired most of the people who passed on the last run

         10  through so I think it would defeat any argument on

         11  their part that they are not presumptively competent

         12    If you hired randomly from people in the 70 and up

         13  band, you know, the entire passing band, I think

         14  you'd get at least an improvement in the numbers.  Whereas

         15  , under the current proposal in 588, you might only

         16  see a little bit of a reordering and it might

         17  actually take some of the pressure off the City

         18  politically in terms of, you know, eliminating the

         19  situation that you had last month where the first

         20  graduating class from the new list had only two

         21  African Americans out of one hundred fifty.

         22                 Beyond that, I would just like to

         23  reiterate what we've said in the past about the

         24  notion that this is the kind of job that can't

         25  really -- where aptitude at it can't really be
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          2  tested on a paper and pencil test.  And we would

          3  like to see in the long run more apprenticeship type

          4  programs open up.

          5                 I think the Cadet Program is a nice

          6  start, I think something at a CUNY school that is in

          7  the nature of a sort of very structured program

          8  where you would fulfill certain requirements and

          9  then enter straight into the Department in the long

         10  run, is the kind of thing that will really get us

         11  over the hump that we are facing now, which is the

         12  situation where we have had a test in place that

         13  discriminates for 30 years. Minorities don't want to

         14  sign up for it with good reason because they feel

         15  that that's a barrier and the numbers themselves

         16  create the recruiting problem.               I think

         17  if you can find a way around the testing requirement

         18  that nonetheless measures merit, and I think no one

         19  could argue that a dedicated fire science program at

         20  a high school or at a CUNY college measures merit, I

         21  think it would not only pass muster under the State

         22  Merit and Fitness clause, but it would also improve

         23  the numbers.

         24                 So with that, I'd like to leave it

         25  there and I congratulate you on introducing these
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          2  bills and they are a step in the right direction.

          3                 MR. MC COY: My name is Irving Mc Coy,

          4  retired Firefighters, 28 years of service. I want to

          5  thank you Madam Chair for bringing forth these very

          6  important bills because I see with them, the

          7  citizens of New York are the ones who are going to

          8  benefit from it in more than one way.  It would take

          9  me a long time to sit here and tell you each one.

         10                 But, just generally speaking, in my

         11  whole 28 years, when I came on this job, it was I

         12  think 2.1 percent.  Twenty- eight years later it's

         13  still 2.1 percent of maybe 3 percent.  But, a Fire

         14  Department that I've experienced and worked in for

         15  so long in recruiting via safety education as a

         16  Firefighter, Line Firefighter and various jobs that

         17  I had within the Department over the 28 years, you

         18  get to learn quite a bit about a lot of different

         19  things.

         20                 The biggest thing I learned is that

         21  the Fire Department is not even like a turtle.  It's

         22  like a snail.  There are people who resist change

         23  technology wise, personnel wise and every other way,

         24  okay.  So, hopefully with these new bills and

         25  hopefully they will become laws and people will be

                                                            121

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  forced to adjust to change within the Fire

          3  Department.  The Fire Department is the last bastion

          4  of racism in the City and that's a fact.

          5                 It's like a system where you know, I

          6  was a Chief, I was a Captain, let me hand down this

          7  job to my son regardless of how smart or bright he

          8  might be or might not be, but he is assured a safety

          9  net to catch him.  If he went to dental school and

         10  he failed, the Fire Department is a safety net.

         11  He'll never be rich, but he'll certainly be employed

         12  in a courageous job, okay.

         13                 So that's what I found the system to

         14  be and I take offense to a gentlemen who sat here

         15  earlier and said, there are not enough minorities,

         16  they simply just don't come out.  That's not true.

         17  What's true is they are not aware of when tests are

         18  being given, they are not aware.  And if you are not

         19  aware certainly you're not going to come out.

         20  Because anybody can practice for an exam and pass

         21  it, if it's given fairly, okay, number one.

         22                 Number two, when I was in recruiting

         23  in the late 80s, recruiting in this City, New York

         24  County was open for 60 days they recruited and then

         25  it shut back down.  And I found out later recruiting
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          2  in out- of- line counties, which we are allowed to

          3  hire out of, Putnam, Duchess, Westchester and so

          4  forth, went on year round. And part of their program

          5  it was brought about, one of the requirements, which

          6  I think really was detrimental to a lot of

          7  minorities taking the test is they weren't prepared

          8  to take it because there was rules that you had to

          9  be an EMT first and all of this stuff.  Where in the

         10  City you had no where to train to become an EMT,

         11  which was a prerequisite for the job, okay, just to

         12  get on the medical part.  So if you wanted to become

         13  a EMT or a Medical Technician you had to have

         14  training prior to signing your application.

         15                 In other counties you have volunteer

         16  Fire Departments in the neighborhood and these kids

         17  when they come to take this test for this job they

         18  are firemen already.  It's just moving from one

         19  place to the other and get paid better.  With that I

         20  want to thank you and I sincerely hope that these

         21  bills will become laws.

         22                 Oh, one more point.  The women's

         23  bathroom took them 28 years and they only are 50

         24  percent finished.  It's a joke. Thank you very much

         25  Madam.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

          3  you for taking your time out of your retirement to

          4  really come out and give us your first hand

          5  knowledge and experience because that is always

          6  important.

          7                 I had a question for you but you

          8  already really answered it in your remarks and that

          9  has to do with the issue of merit and fitness and

         10  the State Constitutional requirement, because I

         11  found in our deliberations as a Committee in just

         12  trying to look at the various strategy that we are

         13  constantly running up on this brick wall where it

         14  seems to limit the amount of creativity or latitude

         15  we have.

         16                 And, the one thing that I really want

         17  to address is this whole issue of standards.

         18  Nothing that we are proposing has to do with the

         19  lowering of anyone's standards.  We understand we

         20  are dealing with the public safety issue here, not

         21  only safety of the public but the Firefighters

         22  themselves.  So, what we are looking at is the

         23  quality and how you get at bringing forth those who

         24  have exemplified already through their conditioning,

         25  their physical, their written exam and being able to
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          2  pass is that they are prepared to get on the job and

          3  become Firefighters.

          4                 Then you run up on this well merit

          5  and fitness and then the whole issue around the

          6  Cadet Program it's like being involved with the

          7  scratched record.  I've said so many times already.

          8  We understand the challenge with the Civil Service

          9  law and the State is not going to deal with it, let

         10  us look at this program as the bridge that can be

         11  utilized in collaboration with becoming an EMS into

         12  the promotional exam.  It's like I'm speaking to a

         13  wall or something because I'm constantly reiterating

         14  that.

         15                 Can you give us some feedback on, you

         16  know, your knowledge of --

         17                 MR. KADIDAL: Sure.  We've had some

         18  preliminary research done at the center on this and

         19  one of the interesting things about it is you don't

         20  really get that much detailed analysis of this sort

         21  of situation in the case law.  I think one reason

         22  for that may be that a lot of these cases are

         23  resolved by consent decrees or litigation in Federal

         24  Court where the State Merit and Fitness clauses

         25  ultimately evolve into the remedies if the litigants
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          2  in Federal Court agree and it becomes part of a

          3  Federal Court order, that supremacy clause

          4  essentially means that the Federal Court order

          5  trumps any sort of State laws that might stand in

          6  the way.

          7                 That language that was quoted today

          8  by Pete Gorman from the McGowan case, I've read it

          9  before.  It is a little bit astonishing and I think

         10  it really just misses the point in terms of, you

         11  know, the accuracy of resolution that tests like

         12  this have.

         13                 Beyond that, if I were a judge

         14  looking at this sort of situation with not that much

         15  precedent to guide me in terms of the Cadet Program

         16  or some other sort of fire science high school

         17  program or something like that.  You know, I would

         18  look to the purposes of this Merit and Fitness

         19  clause because it is so old, it's 100 years old and

         20  it was put in place, as someone noted today,

         21  basically to prevent nepotistic appointments.

         22                 I don't think that anyone can really

         23  accuse, you know, a systematically structured CUNY

         24  program in fire science of running afoul of that.  I

         25  mean I think when you site that sort as far as
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          2  practicable, a sort of portion of that clause, it's

          3  not a Constitutional provision that's designed to

          4  mandate testing forevermore.  It's designed to

          5  rather ensure that hiring is done not by nepotistic

          6  means, not through personal influence.  I think

          7  those are the standards that judges would apply.

          8                 But in any event if we have to push

          9  this to Federal litigation it's not going to be

         10  relevant.

         11            (Following written testimony was read into

         12  the record)

         13  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         14

             JAMES SLEVIN

         15  VICE PRESIDENT, IAFF LOCAL 94

             UNIFORMED FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION OF GREATER NEW

         16  YORK

         17                 Good Afternoon Madam Chairwoman and

         18  Members of the City Council.  My name is James

         19  Slevin and I am the Vice President of the Uniformed

         20  Firefighters Association.  I would like to thank you

         21  for the opportunity to testify here today.

         22                 The UFA supports the recruitment and

         23  hiring of more minority and female Firefighters.

         24  Our only caveat is that we can not support any

         25  changes that will undermine the Civil Service and
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          2  Merit System.  The citizens of New York City deserve

          3  the very best Firefighters that can be hired.  We

          4  have testified on this subject before and have

          5  offered many suggestions on how best to accomplish

          6  this goal.  The President of the UFA, Stephen

          7  Cassidy, has even done something no other UFA

          8  official has done before by speaking at high schools

          9  with a predominantly minority population.

         10                 We believe that there are many

         11  reasons why there is not a greater representation of

         12  minorities in the FDNY.  One of the biggest reasons

         13  is that there is not enough minorities that register

         14  for and actually take the exam.  We believe this is

         15  only because of a lack of knowledge on their part

         16  about what a rewarding job Firefighting is.

         17                 Greater effort and different

         18  strategies must be used to recruit more minorities.

         19  We believe that removing certain criteria that

         20  currently excludes applicants would promote minority

         21  recruitment.  If ever there was a criterion that had

         22  no bearing on becoming a Firefighter, it is the

         23  college credit requirement. Although fortunate

         24  enough to have advanced degrees myself, they have in

         25  no way enhanced my ability to be a good Firefighter.Students
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          2  do not attend college to become Firefighters.  There

          3  are better paying jobs that will not get you killed

          4  available to someone attending college.  The college

          5  credit requirement should be removed and more

          6  recruitment could be accomplished at the high school

          7  level.

          8                 The UFA believes that one effective

          9  recruiting method would be to recruit directly from

         10  the military.  Most people that have served in the

         11  military have already demonstrated their discipline

         12  and courage.  There is a large percentage of the

         13  military that is represented by minority

         14  populations.  In addition a candidate with a

         15  military background is not subject to the college

         16  credit requirement.  Many soldiers returning from

         17  Iraq will be in need of employment and the New York

         18  City Fire Department would be an excellent place for

         19  them to work.

         20                 The UFA stand in opposition to Intro

         21  588, which would establish a broad- banding criteria

         22  in determining qualified applicants.  We do not

         23  believe that the current test is biased. The same

         24  percentage of minority applicants that take the exam

         25  are also passing the exam.  The best way to get more
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          2  minority applicants to pass the exam is by getting

          3  more minority applicants to take the exam.

          4                 Although this Intro. Is well

          5  intentioned, it is flawed in that it will not result

          6  in a larger percentage of minority applicants in

          7  being appointed.  In addition the practice of broad-

          8  banding has been ruled unconstitutional before

          9  against the Fire Department.

         10                 Finally the UFA supports the creation

         11  of separate bathroom and shower facilities for

         12  Firefighters of each sex. However, we believe there

         13  may be some logistical problems with accomplishing

         14  this based on the current construction of some

         15  firehouses.  In addition there are many firehouses

         16  that are in desperate need of repair that the

         17  Department has said there is no money or resources

         18  to repair them at this time.  In addition with six

         19  closed firehouses, perhaps that money would better

         20  serve the citizens of New York City by putting it

         21  towards their re- opening.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I want to

         23  thank you for your testimony here today.  It's been

         24  very helpful and of course we will be looking at

         25  these pieces of legislation.  This is our first
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          2  hearing.  And to be able to craft and work with the

          3  Administration to come out with some alternatives, I

          4  am of the mind that we need to continue down this

          5  road with the Administration and the Department

          6  because I am not satisfied that they are totally

          7  converted yet.  And, until I see the fruits of their

          8  labor in this upcoming effort for recruitment, and I

          9  say their labor, I'm willing to join with them, to

         10  make sure that my community is aware, I'm not going

         11  to be satisfied.  And, I don't think anyone of good

         12  will in this City will be satisfied because we are

         13  making up for lost time here.

         14                 I want to thank you very much again

         15  for your testimony and call this hearing adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing was adjourned at 3:47 p.m.)
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